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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of KPa-BM Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Company together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year” or “FY2025").

The Hong Kong economy continues to struggle under the weight of
global uncertainties, geopolitical tensions and a slow rebound in
domestic demand. The construction industry is feeling these effects
acutely. Reduced demand for new projects has created a fiercely
competitive market where contractors battle for limited
opportunities, leading to squeezed profit margins and poor visibility
on upcoming projects.

In the face of a decelerating Hong Kong economy, the Group
achieved revenue of the Year comparable to previous year. This result
reflects the benefits of contracts secured in prior years, providing a
strong foundation, and the successful completion of several
prominent projects during 2024, contributing significantly to the
overall revenue stream.

One of them are the Design, Supply, and Fixing of Roof Cladding
Works for the Kai Tak Sports Park Main Stadium which stands as a
testament to our capabilities. This project has gained significant
recognition in Hong Kong and has quickly become a landmark since
its opening in March 2025.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my respect and
appreciation to my fellow Board members, management team, staff
members for their hard work and dedication. | would also like to
thank our suppliers, subcontractors, other business partners and,
most importantly, our shareholders and customers for their
continuous support.

Furthermore, having regard to the reserves of the Company
accumulated in the past few years and funding outlook of the Group,
the Board is pleased to share the Group's performance with our
shareholders and recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HKO.3 cents per share.

On behalf of the Board,

Yip Pak Hung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISC/TL'JrSSION QNQ ANALYSIS
BEENWR DN

The Board is pleased to present the annual results of the Group for ZEZE@MAEEAEEHEZE T _AF=H

the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year” or “FY2025"), together =+ —H FEE([(AEE |- HE

with the comparative figures for the corresponding year ended 31 H|) 242 F¥& ERFE2_ZE_NF=H

March 2024 (the “Previous Year” or “FY2024"). —t+—HEHEEFE(LFEIH ==
“HBME]) BT -

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES - o)

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of structural AEBFERE(ONEAREEBEIREIE

engineering works with a focus on design and build projects in Hong &R RFRE MEEIER « RIVANEBHER

Kong; and (ii) supply of building material products together with #E R RIBHZERS  WHETEVMERE

installation services provided and trading of building material & o $%Z¥ﬁ%@1ﬂ§j§“§j} o AT

products in Hong Kong. There has been no significant change in the FE - ANEBDHERIEHEB TR ITE - #

business operations of the Group. During the Year, the Group EMZEBRMEGRUNLMEEEMELEZ

recognised revenue from rendering structural engineering works and iz °

supply and installation of building material products as well as

trading of building material products.

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ EE

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately WRAEE  KNEFHEEWKZY B667.7A 8
HK$667.7 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.7 &7« & FFEE# 041 78 EE7TK0.3% °
million or 0.3% from the Previous Year. The Revenue performance AFEMWZEXIBE FEFEHEE  ITEARRK
for the Year is comparable to that of Previous Year as we can (A& FFE — B EFTTEBEEMHE
manage the progress of certain key projects as Previous Year. The [E o NEHIAEERAEEAPRHTE I
following table sets forth the major projects undertaken by the g o

Group during the Year.

Revenue
recognised
Major projects undertaken by during Status as at Expected
the Group during the Year the Year 31 March 2025 completion date
R-ZZB-H#F
RAEAFE =ZA=t+—H
AEEREFEEARNETEEAE BRHkE  HARR RHRIEH
HK$ million
BEAT
Tower Facade for Proposed Office Redevelopment for a 151.0 Ongoing Expected completion
Commercial Building in Central in Q3 2025
RFIRNBERNEREN A EERZE B HAEIME #HITH TR —ZE_RF
FE=FERT
Design, Supply and Fixing of Roof Cladding Works, 97.6 Ongoing Expected completion
Main Plaza Canopy & Western Bridge Canopy and in Q2 2025
Public Open Space Canopy for Certain Sports
Facilities, in Kowloon City
URNERETRERENEREELRR  FESRE HITH %EEﬂEA e
RABRE R ABRKRERMRXENRT - HENRETE —FEET
Design, Supply and Installation of Structural Steel 65.6 Ongoing Expected completion
Works for Certain Infrastructures in Kowloon City in Q3 2025
IR SLRRE T EZN &R T RER - HER #HITH R T _RF
£ E=FFERT
Design, Supply & Installation Testing and 41.8 Ongoing Expected completion
Commissioning of Curtain Walls for a Commercial in Q2 2025
Building in Wan Chai
REFREERNESRAORE - HERZEH K #HITH FEHEIR T _NF
AEME “f*fﬁi
Design, Supply and Installation of a Canopy and 38.8 Ongoing Expected completion
Structural Steel Works for Certain infrastructures in in Q4 2025
the airport
RIS E TEZNRNE LGB TIRORT - HER #HITH ﬁ%ﬂ —hHF
£ F&I

EhERERL2AT T _RFERE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEARR DM (F)

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Recognizing the intense competition within the construction sector,
the Group remains dedicated to securing profitable projects without
sacrificing its commitment to high-quality standards. To this end, we
have adjusted our bidding strategy to prioritize smaller projects and
are focused on optimizing resource allocation and improving
operational efficiency. The Group’s outstanding contracts on hand as
at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$369 million,
including the following projects with estimated outstanding contract
sum of over HK$20 million each as at 31 March 2025:

Projects with outstanding contract sum of
over HK$20 million as at 31 March 2025

RIRREE
AEERMBEEHIHZ - ARDEAR
TR NS QTIEERENAIRT - F0

EFABEIER - At RAFABRER
B - BERERRENHIAR - W EITRE
CLERIELRESEERE R_T_A1F
=A=+—8" KglmiﬁﬁnﬁA%%
RIEOABAET BRE NIRRT _AF=
A=+ BB EGMAEEANEER208
BETHMIER ¢

Status as at
31 March 2025

Expected
completion date

R-ZE-RHF

R-B-HF=A=+—8H =ZA=+—HK
REEEHEER200EBLWER AR AR I BH
Noise Barrier Project in Po Lam Road Ongoing Q3 2025
N E AR S FIEIE R EITH “TCRFE=FE
Tower Facade for Proposed Office Redevelopment for a Commercial Ongoing Q3 2025

Building in Central
IRPIRMEEREREN AT ERIE B HREIME #HITH “EhFE=FE
Noise Barrier Project in Fanling North Development Area Ongoing Q4 2025
maEtERENRSRIEER HEITH ZE_RFENEE
Design, Supply and Installation of Metal Works, Steel Works and Ongoing Q3 2026

Glazing System for certain universal accessibility facilities
AETHBREERSENEBIRE MIRKEERANRE - HER #HITH TTEORFE=FE

7k
Noise Barrier Project in Anderson Road Ongoing Q12027
ZERBHNRZFEIEA #ET “ECAFEFE
The Group recognized a provision of allowance on trade and FREBFERKEEERE S EIWKIIE L EKRR

retention receivables and contract assets amounting to approximately
HK$16.5 million during the Year. The majority of this provision is
attributable to a significant customer group that is currently
undergoing liquidation proceedings. While the Group’s management
has made continuous efforts to pursue recovery, the ultimate
recoverability and settlement timeline of these receivables are subject
to significant uncertainties. Readers are directed to the “FINANCIAL
REVIEW" section and the corresponding notes within the
consolidated financial statements for further information.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEETWR DM (&)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS BEEE
Percentage
Year ended 31 March change
BE=A=+—HLEE BAOLLEE
Increase/
2025 2024 (Decrease)
—E-REF —Z-pE #in06D)
HKS$'000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Revenue & 667,711 666,037 0.3%
Cost of revenue W 2 B AN 560,616 550,806 1.8%
Gross profit EF 107,095 115,231 (7.1%)
Profit before income tax & BT 15 F5 B ) A 41,264 55,750 (26.0%)
Net profit 4 | 36,157 46,378 (22.0%)
Earnings per share (HK cents) FRER CGEM) 6.49 8.33 (22.1%)
Percentage
As at 31 March change
R=A=+—H BALLBE
Increase/
2025 2024 (Decrease)
—E-RF —E-OFE #m R
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets MENVEE 413,336 506,687 (18.4%)
Current liabilities mEtaE 169,937 230,087 (26.1%)
Total assets BEE 437,817 526,633 (16.9%)
Total equity HarEm 261,398 292,354 (10.6%)
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4
Key Performance Indices TEXIRIEE
Gross profit margin EFE 16.0% 17.3%
Net profit margin AR 5.4% 7.0%
Return on equity WEZR O] 3y R 13.8% 15.9%
Return on total assets 488 B O] 3 R 8.3% 8.8%
As at 31 March
R=BR=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RF —EYEF
Current ratio (times) BN R (%) 2.4 2.2
Gearing ratio (%) EEREEEB) 5.0 6.4
BhHhEKRERAIA —E-_REERS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEARR DM (F)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$667.7 million for
the Year, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.7 million
or 0.3% as compared to that of the Previous Year. Revenue
performance for the Year is comparable to that of Previous Year as
we can manage the progress of certain key projects as Previous Year.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group's cost of revenue mainly comprised material and
processing charges and subcontracting charges. The Group's cost of
revenue for the Year amounted to approximately HK$560.6 million,
representing an increase of approximately 1.8% as compared to
approximately HK$550.8 million for the Previous Year which was
increased at a higher rate than the revenue growth.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately HK$107.1 million
for the Year, representing a decrease of approximately 7.1% as
compared to that of approximately HK$115.2 million for the Previous
Year, and the gross profit margin decreased to approximately 16.0%
for the Year as compared to 17.3% for the Previous Year. As
mentioned before in the "FUTURE PROSPECTS”, the fierce
competition in the construction market has led to a squeezed profit
margins explained the decrease in gross profit margin.

Other Income

The Group recorded other income of approximately HK$10.6 million
for the Year, which mainly comprised bank interest income of
approximately HK$4.6 million and a gain on exchange difference of
approximately HK$3.9 million, whereas other income for the Previous
Year mainly comprised bank interest income of approximately HK$4.0
million and a gain on exchange difference of approximately HK$1.9
million.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s administrative and other operating expenses for the
Year were approximately HK$54.3 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$4.2 million from approximately HK$50.1 million
for the Previous Year. Such increase was mainly due to an increase in
Directors’ discretionary bonus of approximately HK$4.0 million as a
recognition of their effort devoted to meet the revenue and profit
target set during the year. When calculating the profit, the provision
of allowance on trade and retention receivables and contract assets
of approximately HK$16.5 million was taken out from consideration
as it was mainly arising from a customer group under liquidation
proceedings. This isolated incident does not cause systematic
financial risk to the Group. The occurrence has been thoroughly
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and deemed an
unforeseeable exception rather than a result of managerial oversight.

Finance Costs

For the Year, the Group’s finance costs were approximately HK$2.5
million, representing a decrease of approximately HK$1.0 million or
28.6%, as compared to approximately HK$3.5 million for the
Previous Year, which was mainly due to less bank borrowings were
drawndown during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Income Tax Expense

The Group incurred income tax expense of approximately HK$5.1
million and HK$9.4 million for the Year and the Previous Year,
respectively, representing effective tax rate of approximately 12.4%
and 16.8%, respectively. The lower effective tax rate for the Year
was because the specific provision made in relation to the
outstanding receivables from aforesaid customer group currently
undergoing liquidation proceedings is deductible in the Year.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the increase in provision of loss allowance on the
receivables and increase in Director’s discretionary bonus, the
Group's profit for the Year decreased from approximately HK$46.4
million for the Previous Year to approximately HK$36.2 million for the
Year, representing an decrease of approximately HK$10.2 million or
22.0%.

Dividend

On 25 June 2025, the Board recommended a final dividend of
HK3.0 cents (FY2024: HK4.0 cents) per share and a special dividend
of nil cents (FY2024: HK4.0 cents) per share, totalling HK$16.7
million and nil respectively (FY2024: HK$22.3 million and HK$22.3
million respectively) which are subject to the approval of shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

EEENRE DN (E)

FRr&®BiB

REBRAKFER EFEDEEMEHRF
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As at 31 March

R=ZA=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHETT
Current assets RENVEE 413,336 506,687
Current liabilities mEaE 169,937 230,087
Current ratio (times) mE X (F) 2.4 2.2

The Group primarily funds its working capital requirements by cash
flows generated from its operations and short term borrowings.
During the Year, the Group generated net cash inflow from operating
activities of approximately HK$33.1 million. Combined with access to
committed banking facilities, the Group maintain sufficient liquidity
to support day-to-day operations throughout the Year.

AEENGEELONSREREBERS
HBBERERIRUES - RAFE - A%
40 2% B T A 0 TR R A B 40 833.1
TR RATBANDAERTRE
AEEEHTRORBES  DTH2ER
AREE -

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by its internal WRAFE  KEEFZBHEANIE R LIE{THE
resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March 2025, the Group BB Y HLEBE W _ET_-_AF=/F=+—
had net current assets of approximately HK$243.4 million (31 March B AXEBEBEAERHEEFEL243.45 8
2024: HK$276.6 million). The Group’s current ratio as at 31 March B (ZZE-_WNF=A=+—H : 27668 &
2025 was approximately 2.4 times (31 March 2024: 2.2 times). BIL) AEBR_ZE_AF=A=+—H
IhRBEERNRE2AFE (ZTE_OMF=A
=+—H8:22() -
EhERER-ZIA —TE-RFERS

09



10

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BEEEARR DM (F)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total cash and bank balances
of approximately HK$120.0 million (31 March 2024: HK$170.2
million), mainly denominated in HK$.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total available banking
facilities of approximately HK$207.0 million, of which HK$207.0
million was unutilised and available for use.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company during
the Year. As at 31 March 2025, the equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$261.4 million (31
March 2024: HK$292.4 million).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts to equity. Total debts
include lease liabilities and bank borrowings of the Group. Equity
represents the total equity of the Group.

The Group is able to generate net cash from operating activities of
approximately HK$33.1 million for the Year. The gearing ratio of the
Group as at 31 March 2025 was 5.0% (31 March 2024:
approximately 6.4%). The decrease in gearing ratio was because the
Group has improved liquidity and repaid all bank borrowings near
the year end.

Foreign Currency Exposure and Treasury Policy

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in HK$, United States
dollars (“US$"), British Pound (“GBP"), Euro (“EUR”) and Renminbi
("RMB"). It is the Group's treasury police to manage its foreign
currency exposure whenever its financial impact is material to the
Group and will closely monitor its foreign exchange position. During
the Year, the Group did not engage in any hedging activities.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure
to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities
and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group don’t have any bank borrowings (31
March 2024: HK$9.3 million) and banking facilities are unsecured
and guaranteed by the Company as at 31 March 2025 (31 March
2024: unsecured and guaranteed by the Company).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any pledged deposit
(31 March 2024: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Significant Investments

Other than the investment in its subsidiaries, the Group did not hold
any significant investments during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not acquire nor dispose of any subsidiaries or fixed
assets during the Year.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 219 staff (31 March 2024:
217). The total employee benefit expenses for the Year (including
Directors’ emoluments, salaries to staff and other staff benefits
included provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and other staff benefits) were approximately HK$83.2 million
(FY2024: HK$80.1 million). The Group determines the salaries of its
employees mainly based on each employee’s qualifications, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts annual review
on salary increment, discretionary bonuses and promotions based on
the performance of each employee. During the Year, the Group has
not experienced any significant problems with its employees due to
labour disputes nor has it experienced any difficulty in the
recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains
a good relationship with its employees.

EVENT AFTER THE YEAR

No event has occurred after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of
this report which would have a material effect on the Group.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YIP Pak Hung (E %), aged 66, was appointed as a Director
on 15 May 2015 and then was appointed as an executive Director,
chairman of the Board and the compliance officer of the Company
on 26 June 2015. Mr. Yip is primarily responsible for the overall
management and corporate policy making of the Group's business
operations. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Company,

except FENEERFTE SH(RINEBR AT

Mr. Yip obtained a bachelor degree of arts from the faculty of
science and mathematics of University of Windsor in Canada in June
1983. He joined the Group and was appointed as a director of KPa
Engineering on 16 January 1993. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip
has accumulated approximately 8 years of sales experience in
different industries from 1984 to 1992. Mr. Yip has more than 30
years of experience in the structural engineering and construction
industry. He has held a leadership role in the overall management
and administration of the Group’s business operation since he joined
the Group.

Mr. WAI Yat Kin (£ HER), aged 65, was appointed as a Director on
15 May 2015 and then was appointed as an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 26 June 2015. Mr. Wai
is the co-founder of the Group and is primarily responsible for the
overall strategic planning, management and administration of the
Group's business operations. He is also a director of all subsidiaries
of the Company, except JENEEHRFTE ZRINER R F].

Mr. Wai completed his secondary education in Hong Kong in 1978.
He has more than 35 years of experience in the structural engineering
and construction industry. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wai was
employed by Tak Cheong (Yau Kee) Engineering Limited as a sales
manager for the department of waterproofing product and skylight
and metal work product during November 1988 to January 1992.
Mr. Wai has handled and overseen numerous construction projects
undertaken by the Group and he has extensive knowledge in business
development of building material products.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LAI Pik Chi, Peggy (RE¥), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group's
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. She is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of both the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Ms. Lai obtained a master degree of business
administration from the University of Manchester in the United
Kingdom in June 2010. She is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lai has over 30 years of auditing, accounting, financial
management experience. She is an independent non-executive
director of FEG Holdings Corporation Limited (stock code: 1413) and
China Environmental Resources Group Limited (stock code: 1130)
and the company secretary of Ruixin International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 724), these companies listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. She was an executive director of Zhejiang United
Investment Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 8366) from July
2021 to March 2024, for which she served as an independent
non-executive director from November 2019 to July 2021, an
independent non-executive director of China Come Ride New Energy
Group Limited (stock code: 8039) from August 2019 to September
2024, an independent non-executive director of Wan Leader
International Limited (stock code: 8482) from August 2024 to
September 2024, these companies listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, and an independent non-executive director of Elegance
Optical International Holdings Limited (stock code: 907) from May
2024 to May 2025, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. LAM Chi Wai, Peter (#&1&), aged 65, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group's
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of both the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Lam obtained a diploma in business administration, a bachelor
degree of business administration from Hong Kong Shue Yan
University (formerly known as Hong Kong Shue Yan College) in July
1986 and in October 2010 respectively.

Mr. Lam has over 30 years of experience in sales and marketing in
the timepiece industry. From 1986 to 1995, he worked in the sales
and/or marketing department for various watch trading companies.
Mr. Lam was engaged in a watch-selling business from 1995 to
2014.

Dr. YEUNG Kit Ming (% #£8), aged 67, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group's
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of both the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
Dr. Yeung obtained his bachelor degree of science from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1981 and a doctoral degree in
philosophy from University of California, San Diego in the US in June
1987. From August 1990 to September 2004, Dr. Yeung worked at
the Chinese University of Hong Kong as a lecturer and later became a
teaching fellow.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EERGREEERE (K)

Dr. Koon Chi Ming, Sebastian (27 80), aged 69, was appointed as
in independent non-executive Director on 1 January 2025 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
member of the audit committee, nomination committee and the
remuneration committee of the Company. He obtained an
Associateship in Civil and Structural Engineering and a Master of
Science in Civil Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in 1980 and 1993
respectively, and a Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the
University of Queensland Australia in 2004. Dr. Koon was admitted
as a member and a fellow of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers
in 1985 and 2008 respectively, a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Steel Construction in 2010, and obtained First Class
Registered Structural Engineer qualification with the National
Administration Board of Engineering Registration (Structural)* of the
PRC (2 BLEM TiRAEIEE B € (4548)) in 2008.

Dr. Koon has over 40 years of experience in the structural
engineering and engineering consultancy. He took up the positions
of structural engineer, senior structural engineer, chief structural
engineer and assistant director in the Buildings Department of the
Hong Kong SAR government (and its predecessor department) from
1980 to 2016. Since different time during the period from 2018 until
now, Dr. Koon has been and is a director of Mega Elite Consultants
Limited and Allied Technik Construction Company Limited, and
provided consultancy service on technical and administrative matters
on wide range of projects, including building construction,
recreational facility construction, jetty construction, foundation and
site formation works, archaeological rescue excavation, etc. Dr. Koon
is a member of the Sub-committee on Capital Works of the Hospital
Governing Committee, Prince of Wales Hospital since March 2024
and an advisor of the Steering Committee of The Family Planning
Association of Hong Kong Yuen Long Redevelopment since October
2024.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIU Yuen Wai (B2 #), aged 52, is the general manager of the
Group and is primarily responsible for overseeing the management
and operation of the Group’s business segment in relation to trading
of building material products. Mr. Liu is also a director of BuildMax
(HK), BuildMax (SZ) and FE 1B ERAE H(ORINER QAL

Mr. Liu obtained a diploma in civil engineering technology from
Humber College in Canada in June 1994. He has over 30 years of
experience in the building material products industry. Prior to joining
the Group, he worked as a project engineer and a project manager in
an engineering company.

Mr. CHAN Chi Ming (PR B5), aged 54, is a commercial director of
the Group and is primarily responsible for the overall management of
site works, quality control and work safety supervision in relation to
the design and build projects of the Group. Mr. Chan is also a
director of BuildMax (HK) and is primarily responsible for the
supervision of the operation of the Group’s business segment in
relation to trading of building material products.

Mr. Chan completed his secondary education in Hong Kong in 1988.
He has over 30 years of experience in the structural engineering and
building material products industry. Mr. Chan was first employed by
the Group as a draftsman in August 1992 and was subsequently
promoted to the position as an assistant project manager and project
manager in July 1997 and May 2004 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheung Ka Wai (|REZX), was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company since 1st April 2025. She joined the Group
as a Financial Controller in 2018. She is primarily responsible for the
company secretarial matters of the Group. Ms. Cheung has over 10
years of experience in financial management and auditing gained
from listed company and international audit firm. Ms. Cheung is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
She holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration (Honours)
in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong.
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Year. The Directors and the management of
the Group recognise the importance of sound corporate governance
to the long term and continuing success of the Group. Therefore,
the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards and
procedures for the best interest of the Company’s shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. It met all the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code"”) set out in Appendix
C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) during the Year. The Company will continue to review its
corporate governance practices in order to enhance its corporate
governance standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened
regulatory requirements and to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and investors. In accordance to the requirements of the
Listing Rules, the Company has established an audit committee, a
remuneration committee and a nomination committee with specific
written terms of reference.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Yip Pak Hung is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director and is primarily responsible for formulating the corporate
strategy and managing overall business operations. Mr. Wai Yat
Kin, is the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive
Director. He is responsible for formulating the corporate strategies,
implementing the corporate strategies and overseeing the daily
management.

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should not be performed by the same person.
Decisions of the Company are made either collectively or individually
by the executive Directors and are discussed with the management.
The Board believes that this arrangement enables the Company
to make decisions, operate and implement actions promptly, and
thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and effectively in
response to the fast changing environment. The Board also believes
that the Company has a strong corporate governance structure in
place to ensure effective oversight of management.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the
Board Committees are set out further below in this report. The duties
of the Board in respect of corporate governance are as follows:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the number of
independent non-executive Directors was in compliance with the
requirement under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board and the attendance record of each Director
at board meetings and general meetings held during the Year are set
out as follow:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Attendance/ Attendance/
Board meetings General meetings
HERE HERE
EEEER BERERAE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yip Pak Hung (Chairman) %TEWE%E(}_W} 4/4 171
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (Chief Executive Officer) & BERS A& (7T E4EEL) 4/4 11

Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy I 4+ 4/4 11
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEEBFE 4/4 1/1
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming SRR 4/4 1/1
Dr. Koon Chi Ming Sebastian (Note) EEBRE L (M sE) 3/3 N/AT 5
Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service contract SHITESCDEARRETRBEL - AT H

with the Company which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing by either party.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERRE (R)

Each of the independent non-executive Directors had entered into
an appointment letter with the Company which may be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing.
All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance with
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
Biographic details of the Directors are presented in the “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.
The composition of the Board represents diversified background and
industry expertise to oversee and operate the Company efficiently
and safeguard the interests of various stakeholders of the Company.

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They ensure that
proper internal control system is in place and the Group’s business
conforms with applicable laws and regulations. Ms. Lai Pik Chi
Peggy, one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. All independent non-executive Directors bring their
wealth of experience to the Board and serve the important function
of advising the management on strategy development to ensure that
the Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks for safeguarding the
interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

All independent non-executive Directors confirmed their
independence to the Group during the Year and the Company
consider them to be independent by reference to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

The Board is aware that all the founding independent non-executive
Directors have served on the Board for nine years. Despite the Board
considers the service duration did not impair the independence of all
the independent non-executive Directors, the Company has invited
an additional independent non-executive Director, Dr. Koon Chi Ming
Sebastian, to join the Board in order to uphold a sufficient element
of independence.

During the Year, all Directors complied with the continuing
professional development requirement by the below means:

Training course
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Directors organised by the Company 2= AR EEBHEFIRE
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Attended B E BHE
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Attended ERBLLE BHE
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy Attended REZL L EHE
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter Attended MEREE EHE
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming Attended AR+ BHE
Dr. Koon Chi Ming, Sebastian (Note) Attended ERRBE I (M FE) BHE
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a policy on diversity of Directors to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and
collectively possesses the necessary core competence for informed
decision-making and effective functioning. In determining the
Board’'s composition and selection of candidates to the Board, the
nomination committee will consider one or more of the following
attributes to achieve a sufficient balance of knowledge and
perspectives in discharging the Board’s duties:

- management skills and experience;

- industry specific knowledge and experience relevant to the
Group;

- financial management skills and experience;
- academic and professional qualifications; and
- governance and compliance expertise.

The Company does not discriminate on the basis of gender, age,
cultural and other personal backgrounds in assessing the suitability of
candidates for appointment to the Board. The nomination committee
shall take the opportunity to enhance diversity at the Board over
time in the selection of candidates amongst those who are equally
competent and possess the desired attributes.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board Committees with written
terms of reference for each committee for purpose of overseeing the
performance of specific functions; such terms of reference are available
for inspection on the Company’s website at www.kpa-bm.com.hk.

The composition of each committee and the attendance of members
at committee meetings held during the Year are as follow:
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Audit Nomination Remuneration
Composition of Committee Committee Committee
Board committees EEZEEAR EREE® RELZEE FHEES
Independent BYEHITES

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy B4+ 4/4 (C) 2/2 2/2
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEERE 4/4 2/2 2/2 (C)
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming IHEERRE 4/4 2/2 (Q) 2/2
Dr. Koon Chi Ming, Sebastian (Note) — SEEBA1E+ (Fish) 2/2 N/AT 3 A N/AT 5 A

C - denotes chairman of the respective committee

Note: Dr. Koon Chi Ming Sebastian has been appointed as the independent
non-executive Director with effect from 1 January 2025.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERRE (R)

Audit Committee

The audit committee is chaired by Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy who has
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. The duties of the audit committee include oversight
of the engagement of auditor, reviewing the annual report and the
interim report and providing advice and comments to the Board.
In this regard, members of the audit committee will liaise with the
Board, the senior management and auditor. The audit committee will
also consider any significant or usual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and give consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the accounting staff, compliance adviser or
auditor. Members of the committee are also responsible for reviewing
the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control system.

During the Year, the audit committee has reviewed, assessed
and commented on the Group’s financial reports and results
announcements. It has also reviewed the risk management and
internal control system.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, and to ensure that no Director is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee has reviewed the salary adjustment of
and payment of discretionary bonus to the Group’s staff in general,
assessed the performance and remuneration of Directors and made
recommendations to the Board thereon.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on composition of the Board and
appointment of Directors and succession planning for the Directors.

The nomination committee has reviewed the composition of
the Board and the retirement and re-election of Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and is satisfied that the Board
represents diversified background and industry expertise to oversee
and operate the Company efficiently and safeguard the interests of
various stakeholders of the Company.

The nomination committee will monitor the implementation of the
policy on Board diversity annually to ensure its effectiveness.

The nomination committee will also review gender composition of
the Company’s senior management and general staff, by reference
to industrial and demographic statistics etc., on an annual basis and
determine the appropriate procedures to take to enhance gender
diversity in the workforce as required.
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The gender composition of the Group’s workforce as at 31 March
2025 is as follows.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
TREBRBRE (F)

R-ZE_RAF=A=+—H ~EENEE
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Number of staff Proportion

AE el

Male Bt 172 78.5%
Female 4 47 21.5%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the fees in respect of the audit
and non-audit services provided to the Group by the Company’s
auditor, Beijing Xinghua Caplegend CPA Limited, is set out as
follows:

EET N &

REBEE_T_AF=-A=T—HLEFE A
BAARRZHEE I R EHER LR ERAT
B R AR A A S B H e FZ MOFEZ RS
BRI

HK$'000
Fee Amount ERSHE FET
Audit service EZ R 660
Non-audit services IEEAZ RS -
Total HE 660

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge the responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the affairs
of the Group. The responsibility of the Company’s auditor on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 38 to 43 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Sun Kwong was the company secretary of the Company and
he resigned with effect from 1 April 2025.

Following the resignation of Mr. Chan Sun Kwong, Ms. Cheung Ka
Wai was appointed as the company secretary with effect from 1 April
2025. Ms. Cheung is an employee of the Company and is the primary
contact person within the Company for all company secretary matters.
Please refer to her biographical details as set out on page 15 of this
annual report.

During the Year, the secretaries have undertaken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
EXERRE (R)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing
Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company
by the Directors (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has
confirmed that they have compiled with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the Year and to the date of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of risks associated with the Group’s operation.

The Company has developed system of internal control and risk
management for reviewing and maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
assets of the Company. The Company has not established a separate
internal audit department; instead, an external consultant was engaged
to review the Group's internal control and risk management system and
support the Board in assessing the effectiveness of such system annually.

Based on the review conducted, the Company considered that its risk
management and internal control function has remained effective
and adequate during the Year.

INVESTORS’ RELATIONS

The Company encourages two way communications with its
investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in the annual report and the interim report which are sent
to shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to
their shareholdings and the business of the company are welcomed
and are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. In order
to promote effective communication, the Company maintains its
website on which financial and other information relating to the
Group and its business are disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO NOMINATE A
DIRECTOR

If a shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) wishes to
propose a person for election as a new Director of the Company,
the Shareholder must deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 27/F,
The Octagon, 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong
Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”).

The Notice must state clearly the name, the contact information of
the Shareholder and his/her/their shareholding, the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
and be signed by the Shareholder concerned (other than the person
to be proposed). The Notice must also be accompanied by a letter
of consent signed by the person proposed to be elected on his/her
willingness to be elected as a Director.
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The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice by the Company of the
general meeting appointed for election of Directors and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

The Notice will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in order,
the Company Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the
Company and the Board to consider to include the resolution in the
agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected
as a Director.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS ON CONVENING AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requested shareholder(s)
(“Requested Shareholders”) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Requested Shareholders as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the Requested Shareholders by the Company.

ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available
to the Company Secretary who is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board and
communication relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and complaints, to the Directors.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT A GENERAL
MEETING

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed
at shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Company
Secretary or the share registrar of the Company by written
requisition. Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal
should convene an extraordinary general meeting by following
the procedures set out in “Shareholders’ Rights on Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there has been no change to the constitution
documents of the Company.
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The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a business
review of the Group for the Year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages
5 to 11 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group. Major risks are summarised below.

The Group may fail to maintain its reputation and
brand name and this can adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial performance and results
of operations

Reputation and brand name that the Group has built up over the
years play a significant role in attracting customers and securing
projects. The Group needs to provide quality and timely service to
customers on an ongoing basis in order to maintain or promote its
reputation and brand name. The brand name and reputation of the
Group could be adversely affected if its customers no longer perceive
products and services of the Group to be of a high quality or reliable
or cost-effective. This will in turn negatively affect the Group’s
business, financial performance and results of operations.

Any claims or legal proceedings to which the Group
may become a party may have a material and
adverse impact on the Group’s business operations

The Group may be subject to claims for personal injury and property
damage arising in connection with the Group’s projects. The Group
may also become involved in proceedings relating to, among other
things, warranty, indemnification or liability claims, contractual
disputes with its customers or subcontractors, labour disputes,
workers’ compensation, and safety, environmental or other legal
requirements. Legal proceedings can be time-consuming, expensive,
and may divert management’s attention away from the operations of
business. Any claims or legal proceedings to which the Group may
become a party in the future may have a material and adverse impact
on the Group’s business operations.
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The Group’s business performance depends on the
availability of design and build projects, involving
structural engineering works, in Hong Kong

The performance of the Group’s business is generally affected by the
number and availability of design and build projects, involving
structural engineering works, in Hong Kong. The performance of the
construction industry is cyclical and could be significantly affected by
various factors, including but not limited to the fluctuations in
economic conditions, the general conditions of property markets in
Hong Kong, and other factors. For instance, an economic downturn
in Hong Kong, where the Group operates, could materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial performance and
results of operations. There is no assurance that the number of
design and build projects in Hong Kong will not decrease in the
future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE
AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working practices
and pays close attention to ensure all resources are efficiently
utilised. The Group’s in-house rules contain measures and work
procedures governing environmental protection compliance that are
required to be followed by the Group’s employees. Such measures
and procedures include air pollution control, noise control and waste
disposal.

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group include, among others, the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings Ordinance (Chapter 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Immigration Ordinance (Chapter 115 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has put in place in-house rules
containing measures and work procedures to ensure that the Group's
operation is in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERE (H)

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.
The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship
with its employees and business partners, and improve the quality of
services and products to the customers. Employees are regarded as
the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group
ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and regular training
courses are provided for its workers operation of different types of
machinery, as well as work safety. The Group strives to motivate its
employees with a clear career path and opportunities for
advancement and improvement of their skills. The Group also stays
connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing
communication with the customers and suppliers through various
channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to
obtain their feedback and suggestions.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 44 of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors acknowledge the importance of stakeholders’
engagement and would contemplate at least two times a year (prior
to the announcement of annual and interim results) on the
distribution of a dividend. While the Directors endeavour to share the
Group's results with shareholders by way of a dividend, the portion
and actual amount of distribution out of profits will be determined
by the Directors having regard to a variety of factors, including but
not limited to the Group’s actual and expecting operating results and
conditions, gearing level, general financial condition, availability of
cash, future plans and funding needs for expansion.

Special interim dividend of HK4.0 cents (FY2024:nil) was paid during
the Year after considering the above factors.

The Board has proposed to declare a final dividend of HK3.0 cents
(FY2024: final dividend of HK4.0 cents and special dividend of HK4.0
cents) per share, subject to the approval of shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, will be payable
to the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on 9 September 2025. The final
dividend will amount to HK$16.7 million (FY2024: final dividend of
HK$22.3 million and special dividend of HK$22.3 million) and are
expected to be paid on or around 26 September 2025. The
recommendation of dividends depend on the accumulated reserves,
liquidity condition, expected cashflows and working capital needs of
the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on pages 123 to 124
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the investment property are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2025 are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group. The remunerations of the
Directors are determined with reference to the economic situation,
the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each
Director as well as their individual performance.

Executive Directors are rewarded with discretionary bonus, which is
determined having taken into consideration the financial results of
the Group and subject to review by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is not linked
to performance of the Group in order to preserve independence.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 46 of this
annual report.

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the Year are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2025, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution was approximately HK$40.6 million (2024: HK$68.4
million) inclusive of share premium and retained profits.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed shares of the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company's share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was conditionally approved by the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the then sole shareholder of the Company dated 22
September 2015. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

(1) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to grant
options (the "Options”) to any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the Group,
including any executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, advisors, consultants of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (the “Eligible Persons”) as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

(2) Who may join

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any Eligible Persons to
take up Options at a price calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (3) below. Upon acceptance of the Option, the
Eligible Person shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of not less than 5 trading days from
the date on which the Option is granted.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to
time on the basis of his contribution or potential contribution
to the development and growth of the Group.

(3) Price of shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a
price solely determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of
the option.
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Grant of options and acceptance of offers 4) BHEBEREREMNEY
An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within BREERENZHARNELAHEZD
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. A (BREER)REAANER - BR
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the R AR ANEREMNZLNRRERD
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an BHERERARRZH1.0087T -
option is HK$1.00.
Maximum number of Shares (5) BHEB LR
The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued ETERBEERER 8 R A EEE(A
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share HitpfIRE SR B A BAREM
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the AECEE R EITHOR D AR (Bt S -
Group (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed T EEREBRETE AR I
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or H i ERESE 2 BN R ER
any other share option schemes of the Group) must not in A REEREITHRG)  AHET
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue SHERETEHEZETROBEN
as at the Listing Date. The Company may refresh this limit at 10% ° AN &) A B FRF A B SR B 2 T
any time, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue Bm i R ARE AR B E R ER
of a circular and in accordance with the Listing Rules provided BRITEREBRET S RAEEE
that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and fa] L 4th B A 5T B4 B 2 BRI R AT
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted 50 S PR T T B 2R R B AT Y R 19 48
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option o TNSHAMEEFLBRERADE
schemes of the Group must not exceed 10% of the Shares in TRMOEI10%  MBEmME - 2 AR
issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit and for B AR R AT 8 R AN & B ) H A B R
such purpose, options (including those outstanding, cancelled, HETERENBERE (BEREER
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Share Option T &) N 7N & B o) H Ao B AR A 7T &)
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group) BARITE - B BERBKBEITHE
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any WERE) TEETRN - LB R
other share option schemes of the Group will not be counted. WA GRER - BITERERERES
The above is subject to the condition that the maximum R AR EEBEMEMERESEER
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all B 1A R T8 B 2 2B 1 R AT (R AR
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the MAlREBEITHAR M BB LR - N5
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of WD B A B BEITRZAAIZ30% °
the Group shall not exceed 30% of the Share Capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.

BEhHERER-ZA —TE-RFERS
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(6)

(7)

(8)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to any grantee (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his
close associates (or his associates if the grantee is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. In such event, the Company
must send a circular to the shareholders containing the
identity of the grantee, the number and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price)
of the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval
of the shareholders of the Company and the date of the Board
meeting proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription
price.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or

lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

The total number of share options available for grant under
the share option scheme was as follow:

(6)

(7)

(8)
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Total number of
share options
available for grant

AR B R A
As at 1 April 2024 BE-_Z-_MMFWA—H 60,000,000
Movement during the year FRE -
As at 31 March 2025 BE-_Z-_HFf=H=+—H 60,000,000

The total number of shares available for issue by the Company
under the share option scheme is 60,000,000 shares, which
represents 10.77% of the Company’s issued shares as at the
date of the report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Pak Hung (Chairman)
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy

Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter

Dr. Yeung Kit Ming

Dr. Koon Chi Ming, Sebastian (appointed on 1 January 2025)

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
"Biography of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements. An annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules has been received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the
Company which may be terminated earlier by no less than three
months written notice served by either party on the other. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company which may be terminated earlier by no
less than one month written notice served by either party on the
other. All Directors are subject to retirement from office and
re-election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, any director appointed by the Board
either to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Dr. Koon Chi Ming Sebastian, an independent non-executive Director
appointed on 1 January 2025, will retire from office at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") according
to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association and, being
eligible, have offered himself for re-election at the AGM.
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Pursuant to Article 108 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter, an independent non-executive Director, and
Mr. Wai Yat Kin, an executive Director, will retire from office at the
Company’s forthcoming AGM according to the provisions of the
Company's Articles of Association and, being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2025, the interests of the Directors in the share
capital of the Company which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO") (including interests which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Exchange were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares of the Company

(a)  Interest in the shares of the Company

REBEARAEHSEEREANM R ZERMAIZE108
k- RMERRBERG L EFEE=02
—EF (RWABLIFE=Q)2BE A /K
BERENIR=Z0Z AR ARESE
HEEZAELB=FRRRBFASLE
BEE—K-

BYFFATESMTSELERNTESTEA
BRI AR B AN R B 4R A AR A0 RI G ST B
ERRBFAG LRE REAERLRE
RBERBFARE EREEEL -

ESERTETHRAERAQAN
EMAEBEEERD - HERD K
EEINEERAR

R-E-_RAF=ZA=1t—8 SFRNEAQF
AR ATEEIRE (BB EAPIFEST1E) FH
FEEGEN ((REFRBEFG ) EXVEET
NESHWMBEMEG AR RB Rz (B
EREBEBAFMBERIZZERXESERE
ERAEE 2w IREZLFLHAEER
B EE3521{GBRE AZIGAT I 2 B 2 e -
SR EEHR ETRAK SR EWBITAE

HMEARARA LRz ESMT

REDARB2HFE
@) RAEARTRGZEZ

Percentage of

Number of the issued share
issued ordinary capital of the
Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Company
R VN
21T ERITREAZ
S St MtE % BB A B
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Corporate interest 325,930,000 58.52%
EHBEE NGIL: T
Beneficial owner 40,320,000 7.24%
EmEEA
Interests held jointly 39,750,000 7.14%
HEFA 2=
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Corporate interest 325,930,000 58.52%
Bl e NeltEm
Beneficial owner 39,750,000 7.14%
EmEAA
Interests held jointly 40,320,000 7.24%
HEFA 2
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(b) Interest in the shares of as associated corporation

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
EEERSE (H)

(b) REEEER G2 E

Name of associated corporations: HEEEEE
Success Wing Investments Limited BREAREBRAT
Number of Percentage of
Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Shareholding
-3 B RmEME gvig =] BERBES
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Beneficial owner 14,332 43.97%
EHEREA EmEEAA
Interests held jointly 14,332 43.97%
HEHAE 2 ER
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Beneficial owner 14,332 43.97%
Bt EmEEA
Interests held jointly 14,332 43.97%
HEFA 2=
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND EZERRRA DR R4 & 6B K
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND HeRERKXE

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect of a
Director, the following shareholders had notified the Company of
relevant interests in the issued share capital of the Company:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of the Company

R-IZE-_RFE=ZA=+—H ZHARQRARE
BELRHEGAEBHEEEZEITERERE
EMAR BULEEEEAES 2R
Gy AT REEMEARARAIRARREETT
I Az FER A e

Percentage of
the issued share

Number of issued capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares Company

i ERRTE

BB BARAZ

BRREE B B MY ZEREA Aok

Success Wing Investments Limited Beneficial owner 325,930,000 58.52%

RAREBRAA EmlEA A

Ms. Lam Suk Lan Bonnie Interest of spouse 406,000,000 72.90%
MOREE 20+ [

Ms. Wu Janet Interest of spouse 406,000,000 72.90%
HEZ L e (S 2=

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, no other persons had
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the
Company.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 64.4% (2024: 84.3%) of the total revenue of the
Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 37.27% (2024: 56.6%) of the total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 44.3% (2024: 51.5%) of the total purchases of the
Group and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 25.2% (2024: 14.4%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest suppliers.

MAJOR SUBCONTRACTORS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest subcontractors accounted
for approximately 61.6% (2024: 73.3%) of the total subcontracting
charges of the Group and the largest subcontractor of the Group
accounted for approximately 29.8% (2024: 48.0%) of the total
subcontracting charges.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest subcontractors.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or holding company was a party and in which a Director
or controlling Shareholder, or an entity connected with a Director or
controlling Shareholder, had a material interests, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective associates, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Directors of Subsidiaries

Up to the date of this report, the subsidiaries of the Company (the
“Subsidiaries”) and the particulars of the Subsidiaries are listed out
as follows:
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Place/Country Place of
Name of subsidiary of incorporation operations Principal activities List of directors
WELTEE SRRINY,/ BX  AER%  IEEH E52E
Light Dimension Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Light Dimension”) (the "BVI") Mr. Wai Yat Kin
HHEBRAF (X&) RERKHEE BB REER i)
([ERBELEB]) EHBRAE
AcouSystem Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Trademark Holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("AcouSystem”) Mr. Wai Yat Kin
AcouSystem Limited Bk 0 RHEAR Engrs
([AcouSystem |) ERRLAE

BEr#ERERLZ2A

SE-RFEAEE
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EEZEHS (&)

Place/Country Place of
Name of subsidiary of incorporation operations Principal activities List of directors
WELTEE EmAIY/HR  EENE  TEEE ¥51E
BuildMax Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Supply, installation and trading of ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("BuildMax (HK)") building material products Mr. Wai Yat Kin
Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
Mr. Chan Chi Ming
REARRA B30 EE HE ZEREERMEM Egis)iys
([®E (&%) FRBAHE
BERERE
BRERLE
KPa Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa Engineering”) works Mr. Wai Yat Kin
ENIREBERAA BB B REABIRIERSE Rinmtst
([EHIR]) EARKE
KPa Engineering (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa (HK)") works Mr. Wai Yat Kin
ENIR(BE)AERAF B3 EB RELBIRIERSE i)y
([EH(EH)]) FRBAHE
Sun Pool Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Sun Pool”) Mr. Wai Yat Kin
EAIRERAR(RA)) Bk EE REER i)y
EHBREE
ENEEHRFESHRY) The People’s republic of  PRC Provision of fabrication drawing Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
BIRE ("KPa (S2)") China (the "PRC")
ENEERAES (ORI hEARLNE e RERIERE BRERE
BRAA ([ CRYD ) ([HE])
Hillford Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Hillford") Mr. Wai Yat Kin
Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
Mr. Chan Chi Ming
EEE5AERAR(EE]) BiE EE RERR sl
ZHBEE
REREE
FERZFINER A PRC PRC Processing, fabrication, Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("BuildMax (52)") manufacturing and trading of Mr. Wai Yat Kin
building material products Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
AR ORI BRAF i hE mI-ER REREE Rinmts
(T8 (&I 1) BEMEmR ZAR%KE
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements include transactions that constitute connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions for which the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have
been complied with.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the controlling shareholders, namely Success Wing
Investments Limited, Mr. Wai Yat Kin and Mr. Yip Pak Hung
(collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”) has made an annual
declaration to the Company that during the Year, they have complied
with the terms of non-competition undertakings (“Non-Competition
Undertakings”) dated 22 September 2015 given in favour of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
status of compliance with the Non-Competition Undertakings by
each of the Controlling Shareholders and have confirmed that, as far
as the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no
breach of any of the undertakings in the Non-Competition
Undertakings.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of the
Company’s issued share capital was held by the public as at the date
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by Beijing Xinghua Caplegend CPA Limited, who will
retire, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Beijing Xinghua Caplegend CPA Limited as
auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

Yip Pak Hung

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % AR S

)¢

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KPa-BM HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

At 5t 2L 4R

BEIJINGXINGHUA

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KPa-BM
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the "Group”) set out on pages 44 to 122, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting
policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of contract revenue, contract assets
and contract liabilities for construction contracts

Refer to notes 2(i)(i), 4(i), 6 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised
revenue from rendering of structural engineering works and
supply and installation of building material products amounted to
HK$630,445,000 in aggregate and as at 31 March 2025, the Group
recorded contract assets and contract liabilities of HK$70,970,000
and HK$42,437,000 respectively. Contract revenue is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation on the basis of the contract costs
incurred to date as a proportion to the total estimated contract
costs, whereas the measurement of contract assets and contract
liabilities is also mainly dependent on estimation of contract costs.
As disclosed in note 4(i) to the consolidated financial statements, the
estimation of contract costs for an individual contract, which mainly
comprise subcontracting charges, materials and processing charges
and direct labour, is based on quotations provided by subcontractors
and suppliers/vendors as well as from the experience of the directors,
which is revised regularly as the contract progresses. Apart from
the above, variable considerations in construction contracts are
recognised as contract revenue to the extent that the modification
has been approved by the parties to the contracts and it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur.

We identified recognition of contract revenue, contract assets and
contract liabilities for construction contracts as a key audit matter
because the estimation of contract costs and recognition of variable
considerations require the use of significant management judgments
and involves estimation uncertainty.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAUMBRE (F)

Our audit procedures in relation to the recognition of contract
revenue, contract assets and contract liabilities included:

o Understanding the procedures and relevant controls of the
Group in preparing and updating budget for construction works
and recording contract costs.

o Agreeing budgeted costs, on a sample basis, to respective
construction budgets.

o Evaluating reasonableness of contract budgets through
discussion with management about preparation of those
budgets.

o Testing contract costs incurred to date and estimated total
costs, on a sample basis, to underlying supporting evidence.

. Testing material contract modifications, on a sample basis, to
underlying supporting evidence.

o Assessing reliability of contract budgets by comparing actual
contract costs against budgeted costs of completed projects.

o Checking calculations of progress towards complete satisfaction
of individual contracts and the amounts of contract revenue
and gross profit recognised.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 24 June
2024.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AUDITOR FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAUMBRE (F)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group'’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Beijing Xinghua Caplegend CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Charbon

Practising Certificate no. P06029

Hong Kong, 25 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FarERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_TZ-AF=A=1+—HIEFE

2025 2024
—E-RHE T -OF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T TAEIT
Revenue Wz 6 667,711 666,037
Cost of revenue & DN (560,616) (550,806)
Gross profit ER 107,095 115,231
Other income H bl A 7 10,550 7,187
Fair value loss on investment property KEYHEZANTFEERE 15 (343) (294)
Provision of loss allowance on trade 5 R IERT I
receivables EE A 19(a) (15,603) (8,794)
Provision of loss allowance on retention JEUIR BB AT IR ES 1B B 15
receivables 19(b) (1,939) (2,352)
Reversal of loss allowance on contract AHNEERLDEERE
assets 18(b) 1,082 896
Marketing and distribution expenses MBHERERDHEAX (2,796) (2,515)
Administrative and other operating ﬁﬂl&ﬁi\@,ﬁ% X
expenses (54,281) (50,132)
Finance costs 5 75 A AR 8 (2,501) (3,477)
Profit before income tax B P 18 Bt Al )2 9 41,264 55,750
Income tax expense Fr 5%t 2 10 (5,107) (9,372)
Profit for the year F RN 36,157 46,378
Other comprehensive income FRHEHME2EKE
for the year
Item that may be reclassified BAGEEH 7HEA
subsequently to profit or loss Bz HEE
Exchange differences arising from BMEBINEBREERN
translation of foreign operations E W =% (282) (1,108)
Other comprehensive income FREME2EKE
for the year (282) (1,108)
Total comprehensive income FRE2EKELEE
for the year 35,875 45,270
HK cents HK cents
Bl B
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRER K ER R 13 6.49 8.33
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POS
a B R &

TION

n\l-ﬁ
As at 31 March 2025
R-E-_RAF=A=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RE —E_gF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M aE FET FABT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - B KRR 14 16,816 14,871
Investment property wEWE 15 3,525 3,913
Goodwill kS 16 601 601
Deposits Ze 19 155 156
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 24 3,384 405
24,481 19,946
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 19,409 14,926
Contract assets BHREE 18(b) 70,970 45,398
Trade and other receivables, deposits and & 5 & H b & U 118
prepayments e RIENIE 19 200,811 275,793
Tax recoverable AT Y =] B T8 2,180 339
Cash and bank balances B & KIRTTH 64 20 119,966 170,231
413,336 506,687
Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities EHEE 18(c) 42,437 76,384
Trade and other payables B 5 KkEMEMNTKIEA 21 119,503 135,871
Lease liabilities HEBE 22(a) 6,514 5,306
Tax payable JE 1~ 5 18 1,483 3,250
Bank borrowings IRITHER 23 = 9,276
169,937 230,087
Net current assets REEEFE 243,399 276,600
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERARBERE 267,880 296,546
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 22(a) 6,466 4,176
Deferred tax liabilities RERIB A E 24 16 16
6,482 4,192
Net assets BEEFE 261,398 292,354
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXR#E
Share capital LN 25 5,569 5,569
Reserves ] 26 255,829 286,785
Total equity HER 261,398 292,354
On behalf of the directors RERES
Yip Pak Hung Wai Yat Kin
S EHR
Director Director
EZE EFE
Eh#ERAERLQA —E-_REERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE < 454
g A L

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_Z-AF=A=1+—HIEFE

Share Share  Merger Exchange Statutory Retained
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve*  profits* Total
RA  ROBE SHEE ERRE ARG REEFH )
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TER TET TAR ThR TET TER
(note 25)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)
(Wit25)  (Witze) (W)  (Witze)  (Wit2e)  (Wi26)
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=Zf¥NA-H 5,569 23,829 7,437 (243) - 227,200 263,792
Profit for the year ERREF = = = = - 46378 46378
Other comprehensive income A2 EE
~ Exchange differences arising from  —AE BN ERELE
translation of foreign operations EREE = = - (1,108) = S (1,108)
Total comprehensive income ERZENREE
for the year - - - (1,108) - 46,378 45,270
Final dividend in respect of 2023 ZRCEMRERE
(note 12(b)) (Hrst1260) - - - - - (16,708)  (16,708)
Appropriations to statutory reserve BIZETHE = - - = 1,469 (1,469) =
At 31 March 2024 and R-B-ME=A=+-AK
1 April 2024 “E-_MEMA-A 5,569 23,829 1,437 (1,351) 1,469 255,401 292,354
Profit for the year ER A - - - - - 36,157 36,157
Other comprehensive income Hin2mls
- Exchange differences arising from  —AE G EBELE
translation of foreign operations EREE - - - (282) - - (282)
Total comprehensive income FREEREEE
for the year - - - (282) - 36,157 35,875
Final and special dividend in respect ~ —ZZEHRAREIR!
of 2024 (note 12(b)) (ﬂ/f&/z(b)) - - - - - (44554)  (44,554)
Special interim dividend in respect of = Z = REH KR
2025 (note 12(a)) REHi#126) - - - - - (1 (@27
Appropriations to statutory reserve  BEREATE - - - - 647 (647) -
At 31 March 2025 R-E-1f¥=A=1+-H 5,569 23,829 1437 (1,633) 2,116 224,080 261,398

* The total of these equity accounts at the end of the reporting period
represents “Reserves” in the consolidated statement of financial position
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n{ﬁ

EREMER

For the year ended 31 March 2025

HE-Z-_AF=-A=1+—HALFE
2025 2024
—EB-RHEF —TZmEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F& T
Operating activities REED
Profit before income tax & BT 15 B4 A i A 41,264 55,750
Adjustments for: HTINZEELFE :
Depreciation on property, plant and M- BRERERED
equipment e 8,737 9,290
Write-back of trade and retention B 5 RN FIER
payables e 88 & #E (1,086) (182)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWME BWELI&E
equipment 2 Wz (512) (43)
Fair value loss on investment property KEWMEZ A TEEE 343 294
Provision of allowance for inventories GFEFHREE 244 7
Interest income F B HA (4,597) (4,010)
Finance costs B 75 B X 2,501 3,477
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S EWFIE 2 R EEE 15,603 8,794
Impairment loss on retention receivables FEWIREE & 2 REEIE 1,939 2,352
Reversal of impairment loss on contract BREE B BIREEE
assets (1,082) (896)
Operating profit before working capital EEESE AL E R T
changes 63,354 74,833
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FE (M), md (5,496) 2,003
(Increase)/Decrease in contract assets BHEE (I8 ?JD)/?)T 2 (24,490) 68,901
Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other f’f%&ﬂﬁﬂfguﬂl 7 e
receivables, deposits and prepayments R T8 BRI R /(iEﬂ[]) 57,137 (64,948)
(Decrease)/Increase in contract liabilities AWaBCRd)/ & (33,947) 20,871
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other B 5 & H S FRIE
payables (R A)/ (14,607) 14,499
Net cash generated from operations REMBHEESEE 41,951 116,159
Interest paid on bank borrowings BEFIRITE R T A (1,911) (3,021)
Interest received B W F B 4,597 4,010
Income tax paid, net BN TERE (11,568) (7,666)
Net cash generated from operating RETHRBREER
activities 33,069 109,482
Investing activities RETE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE ¥ - BE K& (1,013) (2,632)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BELEXEZ
and equipment Fr1S 3K38 632 55
Withdrawal of fixed term deposit TEHXE,HHT?UA = 10,125
Net cash (used in)/generated from REZEF(A) B
investing activities BE R (381) 7,548
EHhERER-XSA —E_REERS
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_T-_AF=A=1+—HBILFE

2025 2024
—EC-RHE —T_F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTEx FHET
Financing activities MEED
Dividends paid EfRE 12(a) & (b) (66,831) (16,708)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ¥IRITE A PTIS 5K 31 60,000 84,297
Repayments of bank borrowings BBIEITER 31 (69,276) (120,888)
Payment of principal element of lease XNHEERBRzASES
liabilities 31 (6,329) (7,485)
Payment of interest element of lease XNEERBEZMERD
liabilities 31 (580) (447)
Net cash used in financing activities MEZBARSFE (83,016) (61,231)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and fﬂ%&ﬁ%%f”% 3]
cash equivalents A 1 hn R & (50,328) 55,799
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUzReRBREEEY
beginning of year 170,231 114,818
Effect of exchange rate changes on |:7AF g2HHnRe kRS
cash and cash equivalents EEYHTE 63 (386)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEEREESEEY
at the end of year 119,966 170,231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

KPa-BM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 15 May 2015. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business is
located at 27/F, The Octagon, 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, is
principally engaged in (i) provision of structural engineering
works; (i) supply and installation of building material products;
and (iii) trading of building material products.

The Company’s parent is Success Wing Investments Limited
("Success Wing”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI"”). In the opinion of the directors, Success Wing is
also the ultimate parent of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025 were approved and authorised for issue by the
directors on 25 June 2025.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance which concern the preparation
of financial statements. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment
property, which are measured at fair value. The
measurement basis are fully described in the accounting
policies below.

Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousands, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is same as the functional
currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries.
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—hERAARTHRAEREEHS MK
YRERRERAR - RRAKRHRE
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R T o 3 3 = 4k BWindward
3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands e AR AW EEEEMI AT B
MAZENRBOT: = ERIRP 2718 -

AEE(BREARALENBLRR) X
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REREME®R R(iNVEEZMEmM °
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S BRME - BRAAEBAI  LFK
RERMAINEFEEREA -
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WEREMRmEL - I - 528 M7
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ZERBEER -
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AAEEERGHBRPHL -

BRRBHAN  ERINBERE
ATH) T -

HEMBHRETUAET (B
23 BARARARRETENES

ARE B EH -

Eh#EKRER2A —T_RFERE

49



50

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Accounting estimates and assumptions are used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates and assumptions are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgment of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately be
different from those estimates and assumptions. The areas
involving higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are material to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arising on business combination is measured
according to the policy as disclosed in note 2(d).

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee; and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any
of these elements of control.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as an
asset at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment at the end of each reporting period or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired (note
2(p)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its

purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to

write off their cost net of expected residual value over their

estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis as follows:

Right-of-use for other Over the lease term
properties leased for
own use

Motor vehicles Over the shorter of remaining
lease term or estimated
useful life

Over the shorter of 5 years or
the remaining lease terms

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machineries 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years

The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

Investment property

Investment property is interest in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property is
recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment
properties is recognised in accordance with note 2(i)(iv).

RERMBHERRME (F)

2. EEEHHEm@W
(e) ME - BERRE @

(f)

WE - BEMRERBEREIZD
TE R A A BRI DA
HERA MR AT RER)

HEtwEAEE %EH
W) 3 1P B i
RE 1% F R AH HR Bk
& 5T A {52 B F HA
(AREEHE)
HEYEXE SEFILTFHAL
(AREEB%E)
5 M i 23 104

BRMREE 5%
WMAERE  5F
E-Bei 3%

AERESR  RREERFTET A
REBFESHRBITAREEBTRT
fEH A -

HEME  BFELREEE MK
HEE REEMSREFRER
FREENZHETE  YRHERR
BREAER -

REW =

REMERFHIERDNE S HEANT
BIMERE  MIFRBEXHB
BPFELE  AREESRRHRE
m kR - HETHRAR 2 TR
BrExz (BRNAREMEER
ZWERZEEHE THHEERR
REMERVRERF LR AT E
RERZAFEGE  MBRLEE
B (] B B R 1B 28 A BERR

HEREMENRAIEENBR
NER - REVENHHE S WARE
B EE2(i) (V) E 1T RERR

Eh#EKRER2A —T_RFERE

51



52

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEMBRRME (&)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

(i) The Group as a lessee

All leases are capitalised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities except for short-term leases and/or low-value
leases. The Group has elected not to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term of 12 months or less and do
not contain purchase option. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at cost and would
comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy for lease
liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

The Group leases properties under tenancy agreements
and acquire motor vehicle under hire purchase
arrangement. These leases are measured according to
the following policies and presented in property, plant
and equipment under the category of “right-of-use
assets” as “other properties leased for own use”
and “motor vehicles”. Right-of-use assets of these
leases are measured at cost. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful
life and lease term on a straight-line basis, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued)

(i)

(if)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in
the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception whether each
lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is
classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership
of an underlying assets to the lessee. Otherwise, the
lease is classified as on operating lease.

The Group has leased out its investment property to
a number of tenants. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(if)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Financial assets (Continued)
Amortised cost

Debt instruments, including trade and other receivables
and deposits, fixed term deposit and cash and bank
balances that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss.

Trade receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration from
the customer. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due. If
revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 2(j)).

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables, contract
asset, retention receivables (retention monies released
by customers), other receivables and deposits, other
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12
months after the end of the reporting period: and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

2. EESHEBE@w

(h) €@ T A @)
(i) THEERSGHVEEHE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, contract assets and retention receivables
(retention monies released by customers) using
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs with collective and individual assessment.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the Group applies
general approach to measure ECLs based on 12-month
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information. The Group
assesses whether the credit risk on an exposure has
increased significantly on an individual or collective
basis. For the purposes of a collective evaluation of
impairment, financial instruments are grouped on the
basis of shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings. The Group presumes
that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrate otherwise.

The Group presumes that default does not occur
later than when a financial asset, except for trade
receivables, is 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Having regard to the industry practice as well as the
financial background of certain customers, the Group
has rebutted the presumptions that trade receivables
are in default when they are more than 90 days past
due having regard to the business cycle of the industry
in which the customers are engaged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

(v)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for financial instruments carried at
amortised cost by adjusting their carrying amount
through the use of a loss allowance account. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
Group determines that the debtor does not have assets
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.
Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised
cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost including trade and other payables and bank
borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at
its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the
ECLs provision measured in accordance with principles
of the accounting policy set out in note 2(h)(ii); and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“HKFRS 15").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9").

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income

(i)

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products

The Group has determined that there are significant
integration of different elements underlying a structural
engineering contract and supply and installation
contract and thus such contracts are considered
to contain only a single performance obligation. In
addition, the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Accordingly, the revenue from
these contracts are recognised over time.

When the outcome of a performance obligation in
the structural engineering contract and supply and
installation contract can be reasonably measured,
contract revenue and the associated contract costs
are recognised over time based on the progress of
the respective contract at the end of the reporting
period. The progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation of a structural engineering
contract and supply and installation contract is
determined using input method which is measured
by reference to the contract costs incurred to date
as a proportion of the total estimated contract costs.
Contract costs and contract progress are highly
correlated for structural engineering contract and
supply and installation contract.

When the outcome of a performance obligation in
the structural engineering contract and supply and
installation contract cannot be reasonably measured,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(i)

(if)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products (Continued)

Contract modification (i.e. variation order) are
recognised when they are approved by customer.
Generally modification to a structural engineering
contract and supply and installation contract is
not accounted for as a separate contract. Contract
modification is accounted for as if it were a part of
the existing contract and, therefore, form part of a
single performance obligation that is partially satisfied
at the date of the contract modification. The effect
that the contract modification has on the contract
sum and on the Group’s measures of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation,
is recognised as an adjustment to revenue (either as
an increase in or a reduction of revenue) at the date
of the contract modification (i.e. the adjustment to
revenue is made on a cumulative catch-up basis). For
approved modifications where a change in price has
not been agreed and other claims, they are accounted
for following the requirements in relation to variable
consideration that the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract
are estimated to exceed the remaining amount of
the consideration under the contract, a provision is
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
for onerous contracts.

Trading of building material products

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point
in time when the goods are delivered to and accepted
by customers, taking into account any sales returns,
discounts and rebates allowed by the Group. There
is generally only one performance obligation. No
element of financing is deemed to exist as the sales
are made with credit terms of 30 days or below, which
is consistent with the market practice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(iii) Principal versus agent

(iv)

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
goods or service before that goods or service is
transferred to a customer. The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified goods or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified
goods or service provided by another party before that
goods or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as a principal, it recognises revenue on
gross basis in exchange for transferring the specified
goods or services to a customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue on a net basis as
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Other income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. Interest income on
credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial assets. For non
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

(j) Contract balances

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()]

(k)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Contract balances (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets are recognised when the Group completes
the structural engineering and supply and installation
works under such services contracts which are yet to be
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by customers. Any amount previously recognised
as a contract asset is transferred to trade receivables at the
point at which it has unconditional right to invoice to the
customer. If the considerations received (including advances
received from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised
to date then the Group recognises a contract liability for
the difference.

Retention monies retained by customers to secure for the
due performance of the contracts are contract assets in
nature. When the conditions attached to retention monies
are fulfilled (i.e. at expiry of the defect liability period),
the retention monies are released by customers and such
retention monies have become trade receivables in nature.

Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance with
the policy set out in note 2(h)(ii). Loss allowance for
contract assets is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on contract assets are estimated collectively
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the customers and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand
deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Income taxes

Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax. Income
taxes are recognised in profit or loss.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, deferred tax liabilities are recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled
and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and reflects any uncertainty
related to income taxes.

An exception to the general requirement on determining
the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax
amount is when an investment property is carried at fair
value under HKAS 40 /nvestment Property. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on
these investment property are measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of these investment property at
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances related
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Inventories

(n)

(o)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit and loss.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial
statements, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates approximating
to those ruling when the transactions took place are used.
All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick

leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

2. EEEHHEm@W

(o) EERF @)
(i) EEBEFEKEZ

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company
which operate in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are required to participate in a central pension
scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”) operated
by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries
are required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employees’ relevant
wages or income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.
The applicable percentages for the Central Pension
Scheme for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024 are as below:

EEMERKREBNIEBER
HRETERE - KEE RIS
BN E2FTENES - BEA
ERFEER2MEEHERE
REFta ((RESE])
HiEB B —IHREDFTE -
BIESFE BB ILXTA
EIE - IBIFERESTE  BE
FEREBESEREERH
AEHS%RAETEIER EF
AEBA RN LR A30,000%
Lo — BN THZK AEE
BEE— TN ER - 8E
ETEI M EREE B R H® R
BRERESPERARY -

RAREFREARLEFME ([H
B &L EBERRMNIES
WA HE T TSR
Mg —BRRKESE ((H—R
KestEl - MBRRKA
ZEEBMHEBEITERKANR
EBDLER HEAEETET
HEMER - HE_ZT_AF
=A=+—"HRERZ-ZZE_NF
—A=+—"BLtFEENHK—
BRESETENBERBE DT

2025 2024

—E-RE — TN

Percentage Percentage

Aotk ASk

Pension insurance RIRR B2 16.00%-17.00%  15.00%-16.00%
Medical insurance BRIk 1.50%-5.00% 1.50%-5.00%
Maternity insurance EEHRR 0.50% 0.50%
Unemployment insurance KERR 0.80% 0.80%
Work-related injury insurance TERR 0.40%-0.80% 0.14%-1.14%
Housing provident fund FEAES 5.00% 5.00%-12.00%

The Group’s contributions to both the MPF Scheme
and the Central Pension Scheme vest fully and
immediately with the employees. Accordingly, there
are no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
or the Central Pension Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions
or contributions payable in future years as at and
during each of the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(p)

(iii)

(iv)

Defined benefit plan obligation

The Group’s net obligation in respect of Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is calculated by estimating the amount
of future benefit that employees have earned in
the current and prior periods and discounting that
amount. For LSP obligations, the estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting the
negative service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that have
been vested with employees, which are deemed to be
contributions from the relevant employees.

The calculation of defined benefit obligation is
performed by using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans,
which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return
on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of
any asset ceiling (excluding interest), are recognised
immediately in OCI. Net interest expense for the
period is determined by applying the discount rate
used to measure the defined benefit obligation at
the beginning of the reporting period to the then
net defined benefit liability, taking into account any
changes in the net defined benefit liability during
the period. Net interest expense and other expenses
related to defined benefit plans are recognised in
profit or loss.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill, property, plant and equipment and investments
in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they
are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the assets’ carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit
("CGU")). As a result, some assets are tested individually
for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit
level.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater
of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount
of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. They
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a pro
rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to the
extent that the resulting carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net
of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBHRRME (&)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the

Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of either the Group

or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

2. EEEHHE@W

(t) 2H®RE
AEEEAEEY EBEERRE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares

segment information reported to the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (being the executive directors of
the Company) for their decisions about resources allocation
to the Group’s business components and for their review
of the performance of the components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines.

(BIARRRMITESR) HE - UHRE
FRAKEEBARID 2 ERD
FVERTE - WRERSRE ZSAE
B D 2 R - M AE B RIAR B 5%
EEMBRREN B RREDEE
F o MATEERSE ZNAHBE
B2 EBEXED - DRAEEZ
TEEMMREERMEE

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRS 3. RAAFFT LB ERBTK
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS e XRS5 ER
(a) Adoption of new and amendments to HKFRS (a) RMR—F_-_WEMA —
Accounting Standards - effective on 1 April i%{Z%ﬁﬁT&%«ﬂé}ﬂﬁlﬁﬁzf
2024 B ER SR
The HKICPA has issued a number of new and amendments %,%’gﬁﬁﬂi@@ﬁ,ﬁﬁﬁ Eﬁi$§’%@

to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are relevant to and
effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Hong Kong Interpretation 5  Hong Kong Interpretation
(Revised) (Revised) Presentation
of Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The adoption of these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards did not have any material impact on the Group's
accounting policies or financial results and financial position
for the current and prior period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

3. ?“’%W%ﬁ"TZR,.?é{I%ETE,% B %5
BEZEASTER

(b) Amendment to HKFRS Accounting Standards (b) EEMEERER H’Ji“‘ﬂ%a
that have been issued but are not yet EARAMKREENSFER

effective

AIREEANEE M RERBANCHE
B RAER - NEEITFEREF X

The following amendment to HKFRS Accounting Standards,
potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements,

have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group:
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing Nature
— dependent Electricity?

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements

Amendments to HKFRS 1,

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

— Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards — Volume
113

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

l Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRS

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) Amendment to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that have been issued but are not yet
effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that all relevant
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policy for the first period beginning after the effective date
of the pronouncement. The directors are currently assessing
the possible effect of these new or revised standards on
the Group’s results and financial position in the first year
of application. The new or revised HKFRSs Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective
are unlikely to have material impact on the Group’s results
and financial position upon application.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

(i)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Construction contracts

Contract revenue in respect of structuring engineering
works and supply and installation of building material
products is recognised over time by measuring the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation on the basis of the contract costs incurred to
date as a proportion to total estimated contract costs,
which is the input method under HKFRS 15. Contract assets
and contract liabilities are determined based on contract
costs incurred, progress billings, any foreseeable losses and
recognised profit which is also dependent on estimation of
contract costs.

The recognition of contract revenue and contract assets/
contract liabilities requires higher degree of management
judgment and involves estimation uncertainty. Estimated
contract costs of individual contract, which mainly comprise
subcontracting charges, cost of materials and processing
charges and costs of direct labour, are supported by
contract budget which was prepared by the directors of
the Company on the basis of estimated subcontracting
charges, cost of materials and processing charges, and
costs of direct labour based on quotations provided by
subcontractors and suppliers/vendors as well as from the
experience of the directors. In order to ensure that the
total estimated contract costs are accurate and up-to-date
such that contract revenue can be estimated reliably,
management reviews the contract budget, costs incurred to
date and costs to completion regularly, in particular in the
case of costs over-runs, and revises the estimated contract
costs where necessary. For the purpose of updating the
contract budget, the management may request for updated
guotations from counterparties.

Recognition of variations and claims also requires estimation
and judgment by the management, particularly in assessing
whether it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of revenue recognised will not occur. In this
assessment, management takes into account the up-to-date
exchange with customers and past experience with similar
contracts.

Notwithstanding that the management regularly reviews
and revises contract budgets when those construction
contracts progressed, the actual contract costs and gross
profit margin achieved may be higher or lower than the
estimates and that will affect the revenue and gross profit
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s contract revenue, contract
assets and contract liabilities are set out in notes 6 and 18
respectively.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across certain categories of financial assets (i.e. trade
receivables), contract assets and retention receivables
require significant judgment and estimation, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining impairment losses and the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in
which can result in different levels of allowances.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing
the risk of default occurring over the expected life. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and existing marketing conditions as well as
forward-looking information.

As at 31 March 2025, the accumulated loss allowance of
contract assets, trade receivables and retention receivables
was HK$541,000 (2024: HK$1,623,000), HK$26,038,000
(2024: HK$10,435,000) and HK$7,154,000 (2024:
HK$5,215,000) respectively.

Fair value of investment property

The fair values of the Group’s investment property were
determined by management with reference to valuation
carried out by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions which are
subject to uncertainty and might differ from the actual
results. In making the estimates, management considers
information from current prices in an active market for
similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the valuation date.

Please refer to note 15 for more detailed information
in relation to the fair value measurement of investment

property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEMBRRME (&)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Operating segment information

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive directors for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components.

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker,
i.e. executive directors of the Company who make strategic
decisions.

In the past, there were three business components in the
internal reporting to the chief operating decision maker,
which are (1) structural engineering works, (2) supply and
installation of building material products, and (3) trading of
building material products. During the year ended 31 March
2025, the chief operating decision maker considered that it
is in the best interests to the shareholders of the Company
to assess the operating results of the Group in terms of
resource allocation and performance assessment by nature
of services provided, which are (1) structural engineering
works, and (2) supply, installation and trading of building
material products. Accordingly, it is determined that the
Group was engaged in two operating segments, structural
engineering works, and supply, installation and trading
of building material products. The comparative figures
have been restated as a result of the change of segment
information presented. This is the basis upon which the
Group is organised. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Structural Engineering — This segment mainly engages
Works in provision of structural
engineering works for the
public and private sectors in
Hong Kong and the Group
mainly acts as a subcontractor.

Supply, installation and — This segment mainly engages
trading of Building in supply of building material
Material Products products with installation

services provided, and trading
of building material products in
Hong Kong
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2&E R @)

(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B& D PER (#)

Revenue and costs/expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the costs/expenses incurred by those
segments. Corporate income and expenses are not allocated
to the operating segments as they are not included in the
measure of the segments’ profit or loss that is used by the
chief operating decision-marker for assessment of segment
performance.

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of
tax assets and corporate assets, including cash and bank
balances, investment property and other assets that are
not directly attributable to the business activities of the
operating segments as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Information of the operating segments of the Group
reported to the chief operating decision-maker for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment does not include liabilities. Accordingly, no
information of segment liabilities is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2 EEHR =)
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B& D PER (&)
Segment results, segment assets and other DHEE DEEEREM
segment information 7 EE
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments ERAAEBRAI2RoA2ER B
including the reportable segment revenue, segment profit, BAE2Ho HBWa=E - 2BEF - 5
segment assets, reconciliations to revenue, profit before EEE - W RIS ANRF &
income tax and total assets and other segment information EWEEZHERALEA DI E R0
are as follows: I
Supply,
Installation
and Trading
Structural of Building
Engineering Material
Works Products Total
HE - ZER
HRIR BEEM
I Em @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET
(restated)
(E5])
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-E-5#=HA=1-H
IEE
Segment revenue PE W
Sales to external customers HINERF ZHE 596,969 70,742 667,711
Intersegment sales DEEEHE - 2,544 2,544
596,969 73,286 670,255
Elimination of intersegment sales HHD HMEHE (2,544)
667,711
Segment profit 7 EEF 60,835 21,677 82,512
Corporate and unallocated income PERRDPERA 10,550
Fair value loss on investment property REMEZ ATEEE (343)
Corporate and unallocated expenses PERAPEAX
— Marketing and distribution expenses ~-MBEERDEAL (182)
- Administrative and - THREMEER%*
other operating expenses* (48,772)
— Finance costs — B A (2,501)
Profit before income tax BR BT 15 % Al A 41,264
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERMBHERRME (F)

employee costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment and legal and professional fees.

BEhERERL2T

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 2 EE R @
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B& D PER (#)
Segment results, segment assets and other DEEE PEHEEREAEM
segment information (Continued) 7 EEER (&
Supply,
Installation
and Trading
Structural of Building
Engineering Material
Works Products Total
e 2ER
HEEIR BEEM
Itk Em @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT BT FTHEL
(restated)
(m=51)
Year ended 31 March 2024 Hz_Zg-_mW#E=F=+—H
IHEE
Segment revenue P Ela
Sales to external customers HINIRP ZHE 616,541 49,496 666,037
Intersegment sales DEHEEE = 813 813
616,541 50,309 666,850
Elimination of intersegment sales KD HREHEE (813)
666,037
Segment profit DEEF 87,718 15,091 102,809
Corporate and unallocated income EERRAEBA 7,187
Fair value loss on investment property RENE ATEEE (294)
Corporate and unallocated expenses rERRDEHRX
— Marketing and distribution expenses ~-MBHEE R #HEX (665)
- Administrative and ~THREME SR T
other operating expenses* (49,810)
- Finance costs — KR (3,477)
Profit before income tax B BT 15 4 A A 55,750
g Administrative and other operating expenses mainly comprise * THEEREMEERY TERHEES

BRA EREEENRDE BE
RBBNTEAREEREXEM -

ol

EFERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HEUBHRRME (&

)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2025

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 2 EE R @
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B& D PER (&)
Segment results, segment assets and other DEBEE D EEERAM
segment information (Continued) 7 ESE R ()
Supply,
Installation
and Trading
Structural  of Building
Engineering Material
Works Products Total
HE - ZER
HBIR BEEEWN
I Em st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TER
(restated)
(=E5)
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-Z#=H=+—H
Segment assets P HEE 298,372 9,995 308,367
Property, plant and equipment EN T 165
Investment property REME 3,525
Tax assets TIBEE 5,564
Cash and bank balances Be RFITE 119,966
Other corporate assets Hinh¥EE 230
Total consolidated assets BABESR 437,817
Supply,
Installation
and Trading
Structural of Building
Engineering Material
Works Products Total
e ZTEK
HREIRE EEEM
I Em @at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEX TER FTET
(restated)
(& E5)
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-m#E=ZA=+—-H
Segment assets PHEE 339,605 9,814 349,419
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MK 221
Investment property REME 3,913
Tax assets HIBEE 744
Cash and bank balances ReRIBITE 170,231
Other corporate assets Hinh%EE 2,105
Total consolidated assets BABESLR 526,633



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2 &R @
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B& D PER (#)
Segment results, segment assets and other DEBFEAE T ESEEREM
segment information (Continued) 7 EBEF ()
Supply,
Installation
and Trading
Structural  of Building
Engineering Material ~ Corporate/
Works Products Unallocated Total
it RHER
HEIR EE ¥/
I EMER A2 @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FER TR

(restated)
(RE5))
Year ended 31 March 2025 BF-E-f7#F=H=+—H
IHEE

Other information BEMEH
Interest income M EWA - - (4,597) (4,597)
Interest expense FERX - - 2,501 2,501
Depreciation e 8,398 68 271 8,737
Provision of allowance for inventories ~ F&EHERE - 244 - 244
Impairment loss on trade receivables BHRNFERERR 15,147 456 - 15,603
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment  ERE & 2 RiEFEE/

loss) on retention receivables (FEEERED) 1,941 (2) - 1,939
Reversal of impairment loss on contract A 414 & 7 R A E 18 o

assets (1,069) (13) - (1,082)
Additions to specified non-current NEREFRDEE

assets 10,171 746 - 10,917
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-E-mE=F=1+—-H

UHEE

Other information BEMEH
Interest income FEWA = = (4,010) (4,010)
Interest expense FERE = = 3,477 3,477
Depreciation neE 9,148 16 126 9,290
Provision of allowance for inventories & EHEE - 7 = 7
Impairment loss on trade receivables BoREKHE REBE 8,140 654 = 8,794
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment  EUIREB 4 7 REERE/

loss) on retention receivables (BEEBBER) 2,395 (43) = 2,352
Reversal of impairment loss on RNEEZREBERD

contract assets (874) (22) - (896)
Additions to specified non-current RERTIHERDEE

assets” 10,831 18 - 10,849
& Specific non-current assets represent non-current assets other & BEERDEERREERBEE

than deferred tax assets and deposits. Riz&INEREE E ©
EhERERAZS —E-AEERS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Geographical segment information

(c)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group's operations are in Hong Kong.
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group's
revenue was derived from the activities in Hong Kong (place
by domicile).

An analysis of the Group's specified non-current assets,
excluding deferred tax assets, and deposits, by geographical

5.

o EER @)
(b) HE D ZPE R

ARBB—FREZEBRRE - MA
SENTELEMETIUNEE -
BE_ZT-_AFR-_FT_MF= H
=+t —HLEFE AEENKE
KRB (REER)ED -

REEIZE E TR IMEETENSE
FRBEE (MRETHEEE R

locations, determined based on physical location of the Be) RIBMEE MO
assets is as follows:

2025 2024
—E-HEF —Z_mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Hong Kong BB 11,118 5,522
The PRC M B 9,824 13,863
20,942 19,385

Information about major customers (c) EREXTEEZEFRZ2EHR

Revenue from major customers, each of them accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue, are set out below:

BEEREERZEI0%HA ENEE
EPWEWT

2025 2024

—E-RE — T UF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH& T FET

Customer A ZEA 251,267 376,726

Customer B (note) =B (M) N/AF3E H 103,332

Revenue from both Customer A and Customer B for the HE—_E_RERKR-_ZT-_WE=A

years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 were generated for =t+—HILFE REEFPARE
the Structural Engineering Works. PR ELXB AR IETE-

Note:  Revenue from Customer B are less than 10% during the year

ended 31 March 2025.

Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of structural
engineering works; (i) supply and installation of building
material products; and (iii) trading of building material products.
Revenue derived from these principal activities comprises the
following:

RERMBHERRME (F)

6. W=

AEBET2RER(REEBITREIE: (i)
HEELZERMER @ Ri)EERM
Emeo W IREUFEZXEY LB
HBATER :

2025 2024
—E-FREF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Revenue from contracts with customers HFFE &KW
Revenue recognised over time: BE By A RR 2 W &
— Structural engineering works —EETRI(E 596,969 616,541
— Supply and installation of —HERTEEMER
building material products 33,476 26,938
Revenue recognised at a point in time: R B R e
— Trading of building material products —-BEEEMESR 37,266 22,558
667,711 666,037

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
the provision of structural engineering works and supply and
installation of building material products, which represents the

BEARARREZBREEBETRETIER
HERZRKEMEMELNH WS BIA
SEUESHREABEIETASEAE

aggregate amount of the consideration the Group is entitled REHRGFENERETESYNEBE TN FE
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the fRBHEEF - T
Group’s contracts of construction works existed at the end of
the reporting period, is summarised as follows:
2025 2024
—EC-HE —EomE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Amounts expected to be recognised TR NENEE
as revenue
— Within one year —— %R 230,477 820,461
— After one year ——F 1% 138,211 78,064
Total 1Bt 368,688 898,525

The Group will recognise the expected revenue arising from its
existing contracts of construction work in future as the project
work is progressed, which is expected to occur over the next
1 to 22 months (2024: 1 to 34 months).

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts for trading of building material products and therefore
the above information does not include revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligation under the contracts for trading of building material
products that had an original expected duration of one year or
less.

BEr#ERERLZ2A

AR B AT R R BE %IEEI&E’JLJ:(%E
ARERR—ZE-_+-EA(=F
F:—E= +E1lﬂ)ﬂq§*$)ﬁ€ /J?E
BERETRGHONERKE -

AEECHEEEMEMNHEAHE
REREE DL At BAERAETE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBHERME (&)

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HiA

2025 2024
—E-RHE —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T F&T
Bank interest income R1TH B U A 4,597 4,010
Rental income He WA 198 170
Government grants BT B 18 60

Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BENEKEZ WS
equipment 512 43
Gain on exchange difference PE X, U 25 3,896 1,894
Write-back of trade and retention payables [0 8 5 BN B M ERMRE S 1,086 182

Reversal of provision for BoRHARSE &R A
long service payment - 644
Others Hib 243 184
10,550 7,187
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. M

2025 2024
—E_REF —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T FH&T
Interest on bank borrowings RITHRERF B 1,911 3,021
Interest on lease liabilities (note 22(a)) HEBENB (B222(a)) 580 447
Others Hipb 10 9
2,501 3,477

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |
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PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting)

the following:

RERMBHERRME (F)

BR Fft 15 Bt A1 % A

BRETSBAE M E M GEA) AT
BIHRBER:

2025 2024
—E2-HF —ZT-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FET
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B & 660 750
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BR ARSI FEEKRAE
— Carrying amount of inventories - EEANEEREE
consumed 159,881 189,273
— Provision of allowance for inventories — FIREFERE 244 7
160,125 189,280
Depreciation charge: EBENTEEZNE :
Right-of-use assets included in property, RIATHDENYE  BE &
plant and equipment under the BEETNZERAELE
following categories:
— Other properties leased for own use — A EEROME 6,969 7,213
— Motor vehicles - A=E a7 -
Other property, plant and equipment Bz - BE k&G 1,721 2,077
8,737 9,290
Employee costs (including directors’ EBERN(BIEESHE)
emoluments (note 117(a))) (Kiat11(a))
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — H4e  EMEREMET 78,012 75,510
— Contributions to defined contribution — REHFENREEIHE R
retirement plans (note) (H1:z) 5,220 4,540
83,232 80,050
Exchange gain, net b 5 U a5 )% 58 (3.896) (1,894)
Short-term leases expenses EHHERX 1,694 558

Note:

For the year ended 31 March 2025, no forfeited contribution in respect of
the defined contribution retirement plans were utilised by the Group to
reduce the contribution payable to the plans (2024: nil). As at 31 March
2025, no forfeited contribution under these plans is available to reduce

future contribution (2024: nil).

Biat

HE_Z-_RAF=-"A=1+—BLtFE Ax&£E
1% 4 F1) B 75 B R E R BUR IR ET 81 8992 W it 5RO
LHZAENEMER(ZET_NE : &) -
REZZE-_RAF=A=+—H8 EZ%ZFHEET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income represents:

10. RSB

REAZERRRAZFAEHNZSE
f

2025 2024
—E-HE —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Current tax for the year NG B HEA R 18
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BBMEH 6,086 8,644
— Other regions of the PRC — PR E MR — MG
— Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") ([ZEFFmEH]) 1,970 1,488
Under/(Over)-provision in respect BAFEERENE(BEEE)
of prior years 31 (454)
8,087 9,678
Deferred tax (note 24) EIEFEIA (Hf3£24) (2,980) (306)
5,107 9,372

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) on
the estimated assessable profits for the year.

The Group is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax under the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. For the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024, the first HK$2 million of profits of a
qualifying entity will be taxed at 8.25% whereas profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% on their estimated
assessable profits.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries were eligible to be classified as small low-profit
enterprise by the local bureau and the corresponding assessable
profits are taxed at progressive rate. The first Renminbi
(“RMB"”) 1,000,000 assessable profit is taxed at 5% (2024:
5%) and assessable profit above RMB1,000,000 but less than
RMB3,000,000 is taxed at 5% (2024: 5%). EIT arising from
other regions of the PRC is calculated at 25% on the estimated
assessable profits.
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EBFER T AF E Gt ERFOEF
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RIEEREEWHIER D B AN RS
% HERNERTEF IR ZER X
B -BARE (TAR®]) 1,000,000
T B B 3R % A #R5% (=& — PO 4 ¢
5% ) & F - Hid A R #1,000,0005T 18
KA A K #3,000,0007T ) FE 38 Bt % 7
5% (ZZE P4 : 5%) 5 - RERE
fhi R E AN D EMEHE T ERR
SRR 25 % F ©



10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

10.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
profit before income tax in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

e wm

REEHMEHALATEEE 2EKES
RPMBRMERADGEF HEDOT ¢

2025 2024
—B-EHE —ZTmE
HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FH T
Profit before income tax & BT 15 % Al g 7 41,264 55,750
Tax calculated at rates applicable to HERBREWEREEERZ
profits in the jurisdictions concerned BN REFHE 2 HIA 7.340 9,729
Effect on adoption of two-tiered MBI EHERGE 2
profits tax regime T (165) (165)
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax BARTW R 2 MB 22
purposes (1,107) (1,450)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax ] 15 5 % 2 T iS 2 &
purposes 2,565 2,017
Tax effect of temporary differences not AER 2L EEZRE 2
recognised Mz E (1,300) (34)
Tax effect of prior year's temporary FRERAZBEFE
differences recognised during the year TR BHETE (2,179) -
Income tax at concessionary rate REEH RN TS (78) (271)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBEREE 31 (454)
Income tax expense FTSBiF X 5,107 9,372
B hEREIRZZA —E-AEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

MNEBEEMME  AEBESHMA

TUREREEEME

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in the current

year and in prior year.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation of
loss of office in the current year and in prior year.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
performance of each director of the Group.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2025

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EXE &
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: EEMEeHWEOT :
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and other  Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits bonus  contribution Total
E 2R 11911 Bfhe
e Htn @Al BEE#A FTEMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T TR TR
Year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z_RE=R
=+-HLEEE
Executive directors HTEE
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (“Mr. Wai") ZRABEA([ELE]) - 4,360 6,000 12 10,372
Mr. Yip Pak Hung (“Mr. Yip") Emmrs((Ex4]) - 4,360 6,000 8 10,368
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZTL 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter WEEEE 240 - - - 240
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming BRAELT 240 - = - 240
Dr. Koon Chi Ming, Sebastian ELHELT
(appointed on 1 January 2025) (R-E-F7F
—A—HEZF) 60 - - - 60
Total st 780 8,720 12,000 20 21,520
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-2-MmE=R
=S+-ALEE
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (“Mr. Wai") ZABEA([2%4)) - 3,628 4,000 18 7,646
Mr. Yip Pak Hung (“Mr. Yip") Enrs((EE4]) - 3,628 4,000 18 7,646
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy RESLT 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter HEREE 240 = = = 240
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming BHRAEL 240 - - - 240
Total @t 720 7,256 8,000 36 16,012
Note: Biat -

BEEFNAFERBEFREREXRET

HEEFAME

RAFERBEFE - AREWE @ EMA
EEXNEMME  (FREEMAREE
FIMARKEE 7 REY S F R BB fE -

E

RIEREATI2EAEEREST I RAME



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 included two
(2024: two) directors whose emoluments are included in
the analysis presented in note (a) above. The emoluments
payable to the remaining three (2024: three) highest paid
individuals for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024

RERMBHERRME (F)

MNEESHES AEBEEFHMA
TUREREEEMNE @

(b) EBBESFMAL

BE_T_AF=A=t+—HIF
B -AEERERSHTMHALTHE
EMAE (T _MF -MB)ES
(A< BEMA £ X )£§|JZ
DR BE_T_RAFR_

—mME=ZRA=1— EIJJ:&FJEWE

are as follows: B-ZH(ZE_WOF: =F) &=
FMALTXNBBMENT :

2025 2024
—E-FHEF —ZE_mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EMMREMET 3,534 3,247
Discretionary bonus B 15 B AT 1,950 1,291
Contribution to pension scheme RIRE AR 124 103
5,608 4,641

Their emoluments were within the following bands: WEMESHANF AT &EE
2025 2024
—EC-HEF —E-mEF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 N
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £1,500,000/%8 7T 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7L 2,000,000 T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7Tt £2,500,0005% 7T 1 =

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
non-director highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office in the current year and in prior year.

(c) Senior management’s emoluments

Emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management who are not directors were within the
following bands:

RAFREMBEFE - NEEYE
AERFEE SR EHMA LT
A< - (ERRE AR EE S
AR B 2 SRk AF B RERAE

(c) SREEEM=E

MEBEANMNSGREEENKE XN
FENOMEN FATEHE :

2025 2024

—E-RHE 2 HF

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A A

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7c £ 1,500,000/% 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 £ £2,000,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 75 £2,500,000/% 7T 1 -

BEh#ERERAQA —E-_REERE

85



86

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

12. DIVIDENDS 12. R B
(a) Dividends payable to owners of the (a) AEEREEMNEATES
Company attributable to the year ARE
2025 2024
—E_REF —E_OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Special interim dividend declared and paid of & & Ik &k &% & @A%4.0
HK4.0 cents per ordinary share (2024: nil) B (ZE-_HF : T) 2
%5 5l o HARR B 22,277 -
Final dividend proposed after the end of the ¥ 45 Hi K 1% #% & & I% % 3 AR
reporting period of HK3.0 cents per ordinary 3.0l (=% = P £ :

share (2024: HK4.0 cents) 4.078l) 2 REIRR & 16,708 22,277
Special dividend proposed after the end of  $R&EHARZBIR SR L B
the reporting period of nil cents per ZHEW(ZZTZmF -
ordinary share (2024: HK4.0 cents) 4.071L) 2 FRIAR B - 22,277
38,985 44 /554
Note: oz
Those dividends declared subsequent to 31 March 2024 and 2025 R-E-_NER_ZT_AF=A=+—H
have not been recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2024 and 2025 BERNZERBEDHIN S _NER—
respectively. T_AF=A=+—HBREERBARE -
(b) Dividends payable to owners of the (b) XFEEEHAERS BT
Company attributable to the previous BEEEL2ESEAQTHE
financial year, approved and paid during the BARE
year
2025 2024
—E-RE — T _JOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Final and special dividends in respect of AEFEEHERENBE
previous financial year, approved and B FEERE AR
paid during the year of HK8.0 cents 8.0/l (=T P4 :
(2024: HK3.0 cents) per ordinary share 3.0/81l) 2 REA KR
[ gs) 44,554 16,708
KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025



13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

13.8REF
SRERBMIERN TEEHE

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the

following data:

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHT
Earnings BR
Profit for the year attributable to owners ZAN/NSIEZ S N RS b
of the Company 36,157 46,378
2025 2024
—EC-HE —F-MF
‘000 ‘000
TR F &
Weighted average number of ordinary B ETEERNMEFLIE
shares in issue
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 4F A & 2% AR E) AN ST 5 2
in issue during the year 556,930 556,930

Diluted earnings per share are same as the basic earnings
per share as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares in

existence during the year or in prior year.

BREXANMER -

BEhERERL2T

|l
A
I\

HRAFERBEFEYBEFREAER
BERTENTRR  WEREERNHE

EFERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.9%  BERRE

Right-of-use-assets (note)

fERREE (1)
Other
properties
leased for  Leased motor Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Office Computer
own use vehicles improvements  machineries fitures  equipment  equipment Motor vehicles Total
HiBE BE il
BRI hE NE%E  BEREE  BAREE  HOERE ERRE bt it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TAn TEL TEn ThRL TEL TR ThL TR TR
At 1 April 2023 RZZ-ZEMA-A
Cost A 36,802 1,074 3,146 2574 3,405 1,298 5915 5,308 59,522
Accumulated ZithE
depreciation (27,855) (591) (3.121) (1.114) (3.294) (1,242) (4,267) (4,450) (45,934)
Net carrying amount ~ REF(E 8,947 483 25 1,460 m 5 1,648 858 13,588
Year ended BE-R-REZ]
31 March 204 Zt-REEE
Bichange adjustment B % (143) - - (18) - ) (39) )] (264)
Additions HE 8,217 - 15 1,037 36 5 979 560 10,849
Depreciation i (1213 - (14 (303) 97) 03) (804) (816) 9,290)
Transfer B8R - (483) - - - - - 483 -
Disposal i = - = = - = = (12) (12)
Closing net carrying R BEFE
amount 9,808 - 26 2,0% 50 37 1,788 1,066 1481
At 31 March 2024 R-B-RmEZR
=t-A
Cost A 35121 - 2,988 3474 3,441 1,301 6,808 5,926 59,665
Accumulated Zithé
depreciation (25,919) - (2,962) (1,378) (3,391) (1,264) (5,020) (4,860) (44,794)
Net carying amount B E3E 9408 - 2 209 50 3 1,768 1,066 14871
Year ended HE-Z-REZR
31 March 2025 ST-BLEE
Exchange adjustment (3% (76) - - (24) - - (10) (5) (115
Additions RE 9,196 708 - - Al % 968 - 10,917
Depreciation nE (6,969) (47) (16) (357) (15) (14) (768) (551) (8.737)
Transfer a5 - - - - - - - - -
Disposal HE - - - - - - (12) (108) (120)
Closing net carrying ~ BRBAFE
amount 11,959 661 10 1,715 56 4 1,966 402 16,316
M3 March 2005 R-B=EE
=B=t-H
Cost A 44,847 708 2,988 3214 3,462 1318 1,438 3,989 67,964
Accumulated ZithE
depreciation (32,888) (47) (2,978) (1,499) (3,406) (1.211) (5472) (3,587) (51,148)
Net carrying amount ~ REFE 11,959 661 10 1,715 56 4 1,966 402 16,816

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

I Annual Report 2025



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15.

Note:

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying

At -

14.9%  BERRE@

EREEEREBEEENESNEREFED

asset is as follows: T :
2025 2024
—E-EHEF —EoNF
HK$’'000 HK$ ™ 000
FHET FHT
Other properties leased for own use, HEFEBRZ MY
carried at depreciated cost R 3T & AN 5 BR 11,959 9,808
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost B IR ER AR 661 =
12,620 9,808
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. R EYE
2025 2024
ZECZHF —Z M
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fair value NYE
At the beginning of the reporting period R R B4 3,913 4,434
Change in fair value (note (a)) N EES (K itaE) (343) (294)
Exchange adjustment B 5, 38 & (45) (227)
At the end of the reporting period REREHIR 3,525 3,913

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The fair values of investment property as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
are level 3 recurring fair value measurement. There is no transfer into
or out of level 3 measurement during the year.

The fair value loss arising from remeasurement of the investment
property for the year ended 31 March 2025 amounting to HK$343,000
(2024: HK$294,000) represented an unrealised loss relating to those
investment property as at 31 March 2025.

The fair values of the Group’s investment property as at 31 March
2025 and 2024 were determined by the directors with reference
to the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, which is an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in nearby location.

BEhERERL2T

Bt -

(a)

BEMER T _AFR_FT_NF=A
=+—HNATEBEIRLEEEAFE
R -FAMEE ANELEIRAFE

i

BE T -_RAAF=A=1+t—BItEE
BN EREMENELANATEER
/343,000 7 (== — I 4 : 294,000/
) RENR-_TB-_RE=A=+—H0%F
BREMENRERES -

AEBNBREMER_T_AFR_F
“HE=ZA=+—BZAFEIHREEZ
EBHEGBEMARXMNTIERBES
RRAREITHEETE  ZB LB EGER
AR EEEER SR M E TGN
A EEUMEEBE LR -

ol

EFERSE

|l
Ay
|l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

15.

16.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

MBEBRERME (F)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c) Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs
to the valuation.

Property Location  Valuation Unobservable inputs
technique
LES B RERT FOBR@AHE
Commercial premise  The PRC Comparison Premium/Discount to the unit
method market price per unit of market

comparables, taking into account
differences such as size, character
and location, etc.

[EESES f HWRE BEMGAELRNE 2 ELME

BE/UR BEEEE  ERR
WEERAEER

The fair value measurement is based on the highest and best use of the
investment property, which does not differ from their actual use.

Under comparison method, fair value is estimated by comparison
based on prices realised or market prices of comparable properties.
Comparable properties of similar size, character and location are
analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages
and disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair
comparison of capital values.

(d)  The investment property is leased to a third party under operating lease
to earn rental income, further details of which are included in note

15. REWE @)

Hia : (&)

(0

Range of unobservable
TUBRUAREEE

2025:-10% to 10%
(2024: -10% to 10%)

—E-RE:

(=

AT RS EM AR B ERN KT 28R AR
B

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

TABRHABBREATENEE

inputs

The higher the premium/discount,
the higher/lower the fair value

W/ GRAS  ATESS/ HE
-10%2£10%

T

-10%%10%)

RFEFEDNRREVE ZBRSEEREK
ER%® (RERBEER)FE -

BELEOE - A FEDAERATE LRY
KEZERBERIMEILLBETHE - 5
BEWMEZMESBEMRRE - DT R
FAREEEE EHXMOHBLUZ AR
ME  UHEERNEEETAFLEK -

REMERBELEEAELETE=T N
RIVEE WA - BRE — SR BEEH N

22(b). 22(b) °

GOODWILL 16. &
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-IOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET

At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and RZZE_=%FmMHA—AH -
31 March 2025 —EoNFE=ZA=+—HK

—E-RF=HA=+—H 601 601

The amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period is
allocated to the cash-generating unit which is the segment of
“Structural engineering works” and is tested for impairment by
the management by estimating the recoverable amount of this
cash-generating unit based on value-in-use calculations. The
calculation comprise cash flow projections based on the financial
budgets approved by the management. The period covered
by the financial budgets is two years. Cash flows beyond the
two-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth
rate of 2% (2024: 2%). Based on the results of the impairment
testing, management determines that there is no impairment in
respect of this cash-generating unit.

Annual Report 2025

&

T_{I{’EJ “*BI*JEI’JEEEFE KA
ﬁi*i

THRNBESEROKR [EET
I i
BEEEREBERBESEEGAZA
EAL R AU B 2 5R - AT RE R

?( cZFTEEBRENEEBEINMB

BENRSRERD - MBEREMRE

aﬁﬁﬂﬁmfﬁﬁ MR S T8 2%
(ZB— PO 2%) WiEE R EREY -

AR AB R (BRI 3 B0 45

CBEEEBEZR

CELEBNI T FERE -



16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GOODWILL (continued)

Key assumptions used by the management in the value-in-use
calculations of this cash-generating unit include:

RERMBHERRME (F)

16. BHE @)

EEEAZRASELEMNNEREER
BEHFANIERRKREEE

2025 2024

—E-RE —EmE

Discount rate (pre-tax) B AT IR X 9.9% 9.7%
Gross profit margin E A= 13.8%-14.0% 10.0%-13.0%

These assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the market conditions and economy which have impact on the
business in which this cash-generating unit is engaged. Revenue
are forecasted with reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation of the awarded
projects, which is estimated with reference to the expected work
schedule requirements and duration of the projects. Gross profit
margin is forecasted based on the gross profit margin achieved
in prior year adjusted for the expected change in market
conditions and taking into account the revenue and cost budget
of individual structural engineering project. The pre-tax discount
rate used reflects the specific risks relating to the business and
industry in which this cash-generating unit is engaged.

ZEBRRERBBERBANEEE
HZRCEEBUMPNEBEMTE
BT S R 2 TR E - Wan Th %
2EEHEERBITREBBRHOREN
EE (ZERED2REENAMITEE
BERKFHR MG MBR - EF =R
E*ETFLEiFﬁﬁ‘ JE’J%?‘T‘JTEHEH%?—

1l/“a|J T%I%EEEE’JH&Z &W$i‘§§-ﬁ'ﬁ
YR B9 TEOR © BT AR 2 BR 35 4T 3R R R R
BERZRSELBUMPIREBRITE
B4 TE RLRR

INVENTORIES 17. 78
2025 2024
—E-RE —TmE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Raw materials and supplies R %} R A FE SR 6,639 6,072
Work-in-progress ER @ 8,412 1,436
Finished goods Ak o 4,358 7,418
19,409 14,926

EHhERER-XSA CE-_REERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(a)

(b)

Terms and arrangements of construction
services

The Group's structural engineering contracts and supply
and installation of building material products contracts
include payment schedules which require stage payments
over the contract period once milestones are reached.
These payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. When the revenue recognised exceeds the
milestone payments, the Group recognises contract assets
for the difference.

Contract assets arising from these unbilled revenue
represent a right to consideration from the customers
in exchange of the services transferred to the customers
when that right is subject to conditions other than solely
the passage of time. Upon the completed services being
accepted by the customers, the amounts recognised as
contract assets on unbilled revenue are reclassified to trade
receivables.

When the milestone payments exceeds the revenue
recognised to date, the Group recognises contract liabilities
for the difference.

Details of the contract assets of the Group are set out in
notes 18(b).

Contract assets

18.6HWEE &HNEE
(a) BERIAVIRARR B HE

AEBNEBIRESOUAREER
REEMEMANBRENRAOEA
2= B B AR R Iy 78 5 BN SR A0 5 R B
X - R ENREHEKRD LEEE
REMEE -ECHERUDBEEE
RN R NREEREEERE

REARBRRSELNANEE
HETh A F P R Y RS 7 & P YR
RABEVRER - 1 3% 4 ) 28 52055 ) 4
B AN IR FTIR » B TR RS
BEPEM®E  RARAEWSTHER
REHNEENSEENNEEES
W FRIR -

EERBNFERES EEAHI
ol AREREBEEASNARE -

AEBZANEEFBHENKE
18(b) °

(b) ENEE

2025 2024
—E-HEF —E_OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T T

Contract assets arising from: RENTEENEGNEE
— Structural engineering works —EEIRIE 70,131 46,591

— Supply and installation of —RENTEEMER

building material products 1,380 430
71,511 47,021
Less: Loss allowance W SRR (541) (1,623)
70,970 45,398

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025



18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(Continued)

(b) Contract assets (Continued)

(c)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

(b) EHEE @)

RBEHPRZE

Z TRERRFEIE T

18. 6 EBE SHNEFEm

MEER D REEB

2025 2024
—EC-HEF —EmEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Within one year —FR 68,725 44,299
More than one year and less than two years #8383 — M 1~ 48 38 M F 2,786 2,722
71,511 47,021

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of EMBERBEZEBEESENMT -

contract assets are as follows:

2025 2024
—EBC-RF —ZomE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the reporting period R R 25 HA 9) 1,623 2,519
Reversal of impairment loss VEREN Ei=kE{E (1,082) (896)
At the end of the reporting period INEERE R S 541 1,623

The Group recognises impairment allowance on contract
assets based on the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)
(ii). Further details of the Group’s credit policy and credit

2N & E AR B8 M 52 2(h) (i) BTt B & 5t
BRERANEENRERE - N
SENEERRRANEEEL

risk arising from contract assets are set out in note 35(a). NEERBRZEZHESNHE
35(a) ©
Contract liabilities (c) EXEE
2025 2024
—BC-REF —Z_mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Contract liabilities arising from: REUNTAEZEHEE:
— Structural engineering works —EEITIEIE 38,300 57,439
- Supply and installation of —HERTEENE®D
building material products 2,000 3,104
— Trading of building material products —BEEMER 2,137 15,841
42,437 76,384
Eh#ERAEIIRAAA —E-_REERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18. 6 EBE SHNEFEm

(Continued)

(c) Contract liabilities (Continued) (c) EHEEmWm
The movements in contract liabilities are as follows: EHBBEZEEBNT :
2025 2024
—E-RE — T pUF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period i A== E ) 76,384 55,513
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AR FERERK M S 2
recognising revenue during the year that SRNBREBIHEFA
was included in the contract liabilities at FHEHMAE
the beginning of the year (61,759) (16,183)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BERERNIRARAEERE
billing in advance during the year < 2& & & FE N 27,812 37,054
At the end of the reporting period RiREEAR 42,437 76,384
Note: The decrease in contract liabilities in the year 2025 mainly due Hiit: —_E_RAFHNAENEBERLEE

HRETEBENEZGRMR
UNEBTETEZEAER_-F

to the increase in progress of certain project and the fulfilment
of obligation of the certain trading project for these billing in

advance arised from the year 2024. T FRRAAYEEMELMN
e
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 19. EZ RHMEWIE - &

AND PREPAYMENTS REAFHIE
2025 2024
—E-RE —T-mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Trade receivables = E Q] 152,287 145,382
Less: loss allowance B EEEE (26,038) (10,435)
Trade receivables, net (note (a)) B 5 W8 F R (it @) 126,249 134,947
Retention receivables fE W IR & 49,269 103,329
Less: loss allowance B B R (7.154) (5,215)
Retention receivables, net (note (b)) B IRE & %58 (K1) 42,115 98,114
Other receivables (note (c)) H e W SR IE (A7 2 (<) 22,859 35,668
Deposits (note (c)) E& (K1) 2,399 1,898
Prepayments TR 5K I8 7,344 5,322
32,602 42,888

Less: non-current portion — deposits B EmEBEH S — e

(note (c)) (K13t (c) (155) (156)
Current portion mEE o 200,811 275,793

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables

The Group normally allows a credit period of 30 and 60 days to its
customers for provision of construction works and trading of building
material products respectively.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss allowance),
based on invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

19.E5REMEWRRIE - #E
& FOE @)

Wit

(a)

B 5 WA

AEEDRIRERERTERETEENE
mAEFPREZEEH RN F30E60R °

RIEHR - B 5 RURIE (R & B
B REZHHOREONAT :

2025 2024
—E-RE —E-NEF

HK$'000 HK$ " 000

THET FHET

0 - 30 days 0%30H 104,358 114,490
31 - 60 days 31%60H 8,175 12,747
61 — 90 days 61%90H 996 122
Over 90 days #3390 H 12,720 7,588
126,249 134,947

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

BHREFE R EBEREEZSHNT

2025 2024

—E-EREF —E-F

HK$'000 HK$ " 000

FTHET FHT

At the beginning of the reporting period RIS H 10,435 1,641
Provision of loss allowance FHREERE 15,603 8,794
At the end of the reporting period R EHR 26,038 10,435

The Group recognises impairment loss on trade receivables based on
the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)(ii). Further details on the
Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in note 35(a).

7N £% [ AR 4 MY R 2(h) (i) BT 80 B0 & BT BUR R
REHRUGFAZRERER - AEBENE
ERRIE ZRIGRREENERRRE

—ZH BN K FE35() °

EHERAERADS —=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Retention receivables

The Group generally provides retention period of 1 to 2 years and
normally retention monies represent 5% to 10% of the contract
sum. Retention receivables are part of the consideration arising from
structural engineering contracts and sizable supply and installation of
building material products contracts that are retained by the customers
and are payable to the Group upon completion of the retention period
of the relevant contract or in accordance with the terms specified in
the relevant contract. Retention monies are intended to protect the
customers from the Group failing to complete its obligations under the
contracts rather than to provide financing to the customers. Retention
receivables are in nature as contract assets.

The terms and conditions in relation to the release of retention
monies vary from contract to contract, which may be subject to
practical completion of contracts, expiry of defect liability period and
rectification of defects to the satisfaction of customers (i.e. at the
expiry of the defect liability period that is at a point at which the Group
has unconditional right to invoice to the customers). Upon release
of retention monies by the customers, retention receivables will be
reclassified to “Trade receivables”. For other small-scale supply and
installation of building material products contracts, the Group normally
issues bill to the customers for payment along when the services are
rendered.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment on retention
receivables are as follows:

19.EFREMEKRRIE - £E
5 a4 FOE @)

Hiat : (&)

(b)

ERRE 2

AEE-RERHEOZ2FNREH  BER
B2EAHNLFEMN5%E10% - YR E
EREBIRANUARATFRENAR
HEERLEREMERAOMEEREN—
B - WHRERE A KB R B 48 R SR
BHEBANEENGRENAEERE
E - RELEEREBETEFULREERE
BITERGHBRTHEE  MENTFRE
HEE ERRBEUELRANEE -

RERESHGEIRGEHFEAGOME @ 48
FEBTKEL - BRIEE EHER LR
AELTRPEMME (BIEREE EBER
B RAKEEEGEENRAZEHAR
R2R) REFPEBRRESRK  BRRF
BeKEFTI>BE(BEHRBEREA] -5
Hip NAIHERLZEREMERAOME -
AEEARTRRERREERTSHARE
PAMCER R IH o

BRRES ZREBRREEZSHNT

2025 2024

—E-REF —TmF

HK$'000 HK$" 000

FEx FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period KRG HA 5,215 2,863
Provision of loss allowance MR E R 1,939 2,352
At the end of the reporting period M EHR 7,154 5,215

The Group recognises impairment allowance on retention receivables
based on the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)(ii). Further details
of the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from contract assets
are set out in note 35(a).

Annual Report 2025

75 5 [ AR B Y A2 2(h)(ii) BT 2t 9 & 5t BUSR #E
RERRESHORERE AEENEE
BREEHNEBEEENERERRZEZH
BHEN K FE35(a) °



19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(b)  Retention receivables (Continued)

The retention receivables as of the end of the reporting period are to
be settled, based on the terms and conditions in relation to the release

RERMBHERRME (F)

19.E5REMEKRRIE - £E

R RE @)
s (48)
by EWRREBE (BE)

BERSHRNEBURESRIREE PR
B R S A A R I AT R BB TR

of the retention monies by customers and taking into account the MRETEE - AT
status of rectification works, as follows:

2025 2024
—E-AHF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHT
On demand or within one year BERHF—FR 2,927 19,510
After one year —F1& 39,188 78,604
42,115 98,114

(c)  Other receivables and deposits

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
other receivables and deposits are set out in note 35(a).

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for periods
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had time deposits of
HK$86,702,000 (2024: HK$106,329,000) placed with banks
with original maturity of one to three months (2024: one to
three months) and earn interest income at interest rates ranged
from 2.94% to 5.50% (2024: 3.72% to 5.10%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2025, cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$6,646,000 (2024:
HK$7,631,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

(0 HMEWKBERERS

FBRASEZEEBRRARRE &b fE
WRIE kiR E 215 8RR 15 H 0
35(a) °

20. R RBITHEER

FRRIRITZE SRS BIRITERA =X
SHEZF BN RBRERAE - MHEME
RZHR - DRFAEEZ NSRS H
SKifFE -+ 1R & 52 B B 17 50N == SR ERA

B o
N

RZE-_RAF=B=+—H8  A£E8R
#R17174686,702,000/ 7T (Z B P04 :
106,329,000/ 7T) 2 JE 8317 5%+ R E &7
HRA—Z=Z@A(ZE-_mF: —&
=@A)  WikNF2.94%=550% (=
TP 3.72%%E5.10% ) B F 5| & B
BUA S WA o

R-_ZE-_RAF=A=+—8B KX&£H
MARBFEZRERBEITEH A
6,646,000/ 7T (== — P4 : 7,631,000
BIL) c AREATATERABAEME
B SR 0 AR AR R B A AD SN TE B R
Bl R 4EE - EERNESERTE A&
BEGEBRBREETINEEL ZRITH
ARBHIBBHEME o

EHhERER-XSA —E-_REERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

MHEBERME (&

)

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. BB REMENRE

2025 2024
—E-RE —ET_MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Trade payables (note (a)) B S ENRE (M iEE) 70,506 95,993
Bills payable R EE 617 -
Retention payables (note (b)) FERHREE & (B 2% b)) 33,767 23,040
Accrued staff costs FET B TRk AN 12,809 11,333
Other payables and accruals H M & A RIE R FE AT K 1,804 5,505
119,503 135,871
Notes: B -
(a) For trade payables, the credit period granted by suppliers and (a) BESEMNFIEMS  HEFEREAESR
contractors is normally 30 to 60 days. HZ 5 E8—M " F30E60H °
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, as at the RIEHR  BHERNRBEREZAHH
end of the reporting period is as follows: BRER AT :
2025 2024
—E_RHE —E_OF
HK$'000 HK$ " 000
THET FHET
0 - 30 days 0%30H 35,326 60,206
31 - 60 days 31260H 25,760 22,904
61 - 90 days 61Z90H 4,375 4,665
Over 90 days 90B M £ 5,045 8,218
70,506 95,993

(b) Based on the terms and conditions agreed in relation to the release
of retention monies to subcontractors and taking into account the

(b)

ERBL o 6 7 AR5 IR E S 95 58 FY 15R 50 I
AR R ER TR - NI EHR

status of rectification work, the retention payables as at the end of the FEENENRBLMT -
reporting period are to be settled as follows:

2025 2024
—E-FHF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$ " 000
FERT FHT
On demand or within one year BEXRF—FR 9,363 10,790
After one year —F1& 24,404 12,250
33,767 23,040

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

I Annual Report 2025



22.LEASES

(@) The Group as lessee

The Group leases office premises, factories, warehouse,
quarters and motor vehicles for use in its operation. The
periodic rent is fixed over the lease term, and the leases are

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

22.HE

(a) AEEEHEHEA

AEBHERLIE=ZYE KBE A
B -BEEkAEFELERE - TH
HeAEHERANGREENE - M

negotiated for an initial period of two to four years (2024: HELERBRT A —_=NE (=
TNE:ZE+F)

two to ten years).

The movements of the right-of-use assets are disclosed

EREEE 2 ZHWENRMHE14 -

in note 14. The movements of the lease liabilities are as THEaBEEEHET -
follows:
Properties Motor
leased for vehicles
own use (note) Total
BH AE
HEWE (H$aE) # ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FH& T FHExT
At 1 April 2023 R=ZEBE-=FNA
=g 8,885 14 8,899
Additions NE 8,217 - 8,217
Finance costs (note 8) W ISR AS (A E8) 447 = 447
Lease payments HERR (7,918) (14) (7,932)
Exchange adjustment BE 52 (149) = (149)
Balance at 31 March 2024 and R=-ZT=-W&
1 April 2024 =A=+—-HBKk
—E-F
B — B z#&e 9,482 = 9,482
Additions NE 9,196 708 9,904
Finance costs (note 8) BTSN (M1 728) 566 14 580
Lease payments HEMK (6,596) (313) (6,909)
Exchange adjustment e A & (77) - (77)
Balance at 31 March 2025 R=-ZBE_-RE=A
=t+t—Hz#&8 12,571 409 12,980
Note: B

The Group’s obligations under the lease of the motor vehicles were

secured by the motor vehicles as at 31 March 2025.

RZT_RAF=A=+—H XEERNA

EHEE T 2 AETERIER -

BEr#ERERLZ2A

=
=
=

hEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

22. LEASES (continued)

(@) The Group as lessee (Continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

22. 788 @)

(a) AEBEAEHEA @
ARMERZIHAMT

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments Interest payments
RIE REEE
HESRK FE FTRZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FH& T TExT
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-HF
=HA=+-—H
Not later than one year TR —F 6,945 (431) 6,514
Later than one year but no later A —FEBE
than two years N 4,262 (197) 4,065
Later than two years but no later @M F BT BB
than five years hF 2,434 (33) 2,401
13,641 (661) 12,980
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET &L
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZZZ-MF
=A=+—8H
Not later than one year BB —F 5,601 (295) 5,306
Later than one year but no later BB —F BT A
than two years N 3,590 (119) 3,471
Later than two years but no later B/ F18 i@
than five years = 727 (22) 705
9,918 (436) 9,482

The present value of future lease payments are analysed as

AREENFRESFTHT :

follows:
2025 2024
—TE-RE —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T &t
Current liabilities mENAE 6,514 5,306
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 6,466 4,176
12,980 9,482

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the total cash payment
for the Group’s lease arrangements (including repayment of
lease liabilities and short-term leases expenses) amounted
to HK$8,603,000 (2024: HK$8,490,000).

100 KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025

HE_ZE-_AF=A=+—80I1F
B AEERETHEZRESNRA
HA(pEEENEaEREHEE
B %) 48,603,000 T (— = =M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. LEASES (continued)

(b) The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to third
party tenant. The lease run for an initial period of two years
from 1 July 2024 and end on 30 June 2026 (2024: three
years from 1 July 2021 and end on 30 June 2024). As the
end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
future minimum lease payments receivables:

RERMBHERRME (F)

22. 88 @)

(b) AEEEHEHEA

AEERE=HFHFHAEERED
% (MIsE15) © fﬂi’]%ﬂ*ﬁﬂlﬁﬁ'ﬁ@
—ECNFEA—HREZZ =

FRNAZTHLEMFE(ZF E$
E-_E-_—FtH—BARBE_Z
ZHEASRAZ=THIE=ZF) - R#
HHR  AEERKZEBEEK

T :
2025 2024
—E-ERF —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Within one year —F R 135 45
After one year but within two years —FREMRFEA 66 -
201 45

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. 1T AR

2025 2024
—E-EHEF —ZT-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank borrowings repayable within one year —% (& 1B MR 1TE 3 - 9,276

The bank borrowings, including trade financing, are interest
bearing at the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s prime rate
adjusted by certain basis points per annum. The interest rate
of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 granted
under banking facilities ranged from 5.6% to 9.3% per annum.
The bank borrowings are subject to repayment on demand
clause.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the banking facilities granted to
the Group were secured by the corporate guarantee provided by
the Company.

BEr#ERERLZ2A

RTER(BREEIHE) ZRTHRE
BN RFIRIBITREENREFARS
THEEAE RN -_ME=A=+—
H AEBERKERTHEER FHIRIT
1ﬁi”E’J¢7flJ77%)|?56%i93% o §R
TERAZHRIZEEREBHIER -

RZE-_RAFR-_ZF_NF=A=+—
E BYAREEMFETHERLARAR
HE R BIEREDER -

hEERS

|l
L
I\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

24. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during
the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

Other

temporary and

Accelerated tax ~ Allowance for  Revaluationof ~ deductible
depreciation  inventories property  differences
EHERERT

NEABTE 3t DRER L3
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Tn Tin Tin Tn

24, R EF 1E

FREEHAEERABEZS Rt &
RE— S DA R AR HEEER) T

Allowance
Right-of-use for Lease
Tax loss assets  receivables liabilities Total

REER  GAREE RUREAR BERR CH
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tin Tn Tn Tn Tn

At 1 April 203 H-BZ=EmA-A (3) ) 4 - - - - = (81)
(Credited)Charged to ~~ (FA) /A%
profitor loss (note 10) — (#at10) (169) 8 14 1) - - - - (306)
Bchange adjustment~ EX 5% - = 2 - - - = - 2
A3 March204and  R=F=RE
1 April 204 ZR=t-AR
ZE_MERA-A (200) 19 (39) (15) - - - - (389)
(Credited)Charged to~~ (FA) /41 E%
profitor loss (ote 10) ~ (a10) 3 (40) (84) - (1581) 2314 (1.17) (2451) (2980)
Bchangeadjustment ~ EpE% - - 1 - - 1 - (1) 1
At 31 March 2025 W-BCHE
ZA=t-A (161) (119) (118) (1) (1,581) 2315 (117 245 (3.368)
Represented by: BRI EEAEK -
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Deferred tax assets EIEFRIAE E (3.384) (405)
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFHIBAE 16 16
(3,368) (389)

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime have no material impact
on the deferred tax balances of the Group as at 31 March 2024
and 2025 as the qualifying entity nominated by the Group did
not have material temporary differences as at 31 March 2024
and 2025. Deferred tax assets and liabilities of other group
entities were continued to be measured using a flat tax rate of
16.5%.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
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24,

25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For the Group, the applicable tax rate is 5%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividend distributed by
the subsidiary in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2025, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Company’s subsidiary established in the PRC
that are subject to withholding taxes, which amounted to
HK$19,734,000 (2024: HK$15,551,000). In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that the subsidiary will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$2,221,000 (2024: HK$2,221,000)
for which no deferred tax asset is recognised in the statement
of financial position. The tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

24.

RERMBHERRME (F)

.

IE FE B 18 (@)

AEBNBERRE/5% At - N&
EEARRPBEKINHBARRAE —F
ZNF—HA— BRRIROZF DK
PR BB TR -

m

R-ZE-_AF=ZA=+—H TEHRE
AN B RA FR B AR S HY BT B A B B R B
Z R B119,734,000/ 70 (—ZZ — P04 -
15,551,000;‘%7%)/,\?%&% H’Jyﬁi%ﬂfﬁﬁﬁﬁ&
RELEFHE - EERE  ZHNBR
ﬂﬁﬂ%mT\KTﬁE’ﬁ&ﬁ%@@ﬂ °

RBERR  NEEAKEHOHREA

[E518 492,221,0008 70 (— & — U 4F
;,221,0005%?5) 30 4 5 B 7 AR O 3R R

RIEEHREE - HABRAER G
ﬁq o

25. R
SHARE CAPITAL
Number of
Ordinary shares ZRR Par value shares Amount
H{E R & A e
HK$ HK$'000
BT THET
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RZE-_=FMA—H -
and 31 March 2025 —E_uE
_ﬂ +T—HR
—E-REF
ER=EF—E 0.01 2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHR:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 RZEBE_=%F
and 31 March 2025 @ﬁl B
—EZF
_H +T—HR
—E-REF
=H=+—8 0.01 556,930,000 5,569
EhERERAZA —T_AEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

26. RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements in the Group’s reserves for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are set out in the consolidation
statement of changes in equity. The following describes the
nature and purpose of each reserve within owners’ equity:

Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over
the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued at a
premium, less expenses incurred in connection with the issue of
the shares.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve mainly arose from the transactions under the
reorganisation which took place during the year ended 31 March
2016 in connection to the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations in accordance with the accounting policies adopted
in note 2(n).

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents appropriation of profits of the
PRC subsidiaries to non distributable reserve fund account as
required by the relevant PRC statute.

Retained profits

Retained profits is the cumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.
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26.

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

RESERVES (continued) 26. f# & @0
The Company VNN
The movements of the Company’s reserves during the current AFEEREFERRGFBENERIER
year and prior year are as follows: (N
Share Retained
premium profits Total
% 17 5 B R 88 3% F et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THET THERT
As at 1 April 2023 R-E-=%WMA—H 23,829 16,747 40,576
Profit for the year F R F - 44,580 44,580
Final dividend in respect of 2023 —Z = = F# K HI& &
(note 12(b)) (K1at12(b)) - (16,708) (16,708)
As at 31 March 2024 and R-ZE-_WOE=A=1+—H
1 April 2024 E—ZE-_NWFW™A—H 23,829 44,619 68,448
Profit for the year F A s A - 39,017 39,017
Final and special dividend in _Y_EEE”]EEHH&%E\J
respect of 2024 (note 12(b)) 8 (Ma12(b) - (44,554) (44,554)
Special interim dividend in —-F fﬂiﬁﬁ%ﬁu‘?ﬁﬂﬂ
respect of 2025 (note 12(b)) (/Wufiz(b)) - (22,277) (22,277)
As at 31 March 2025 R=ZZE-HAF=ZH=+—H 23,829 16,805 40,634

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to resolutions passed by the shareholder of the
Company on 22 September 2015, the shareholder of the
Company approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme enables
the Company to grant options to eligible persons as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from 8 October 2015, after which
period no further options may be granted but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.

The board of directors may, at its absolute discretion, invite any
eligible persons to take up options at a price determined by the
board of directors which shall not be lower than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the options; and (iii) nominal value of a share. Upon
acceptance of the offer of an option, the grantee shall pay HK$1
to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption.

Eh#EKRER2A —T-FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

28. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 28. =B N 7] MY B 7 AR R 3R

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2025

R-ZE-_HAF=H=+—H

2025 2024
—TE-RE —ENF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E FE T &t
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETEB AR MR E 29 = =
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HMEWsIE - ek
prepayments SEENE O] 239 215
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE WM B A | ;I8 43,694 76,810
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTHE 5% 2,363 1,684
46,296 78,709
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H < 3R IE K FE AT FUR 93 882
Amount due to a subsidiary & 15 BT /B A &) XA - 3,810
93 4,692
Net current assets/Net assets REBEEFREH EEFE 46,203 74,017
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEXRR#E
Share capital % 7S 25 5,569 5,569
Reserves e 26 40,634 68,448
Total equity FEREE 46,203 74,017
On behalf of the directors REE=S
Yip Pak Hung Wai Yat Kin
EE ERAR
Director Director
EZE EBZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

29. I B2 AR E
ARFAKBANR-F-HF= A

29.INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are

as follows: =T—HKFEHT :
Place of incorporation  Place of Issued and paid up Effective interest held
Name of subsidiary g\d type 111,?;5 legal entity  operation capital by the Company Principal activities
A
WEARER REERRER gy BRTRAZRE RAEMERRER TERHK
Direct’lg Indirectg
B i
Light Dimension Limited The BVI/Limited liability Hong Kong 16 shares of 100% - Investment holding
company US$1 each }
RERRAT %&@Zﬁ%/ﬁ NG 16 EREE 100% - REZR
1ET R
AcouSystem Limited Hong Kong/Limited HongKong 300 shares of - 100%  Trademark Holding
liability company HK$300
AcouSystem Limited Bt/ ERLH B 300300770 - 100% FAEHE
lian)
BuildMax Limited Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 50,000 shares of - 100%  Supply and installation
liability company HK$50,000 of building material
products and trading
of building material
‘ products
ERRAA BA/BRDA B 50,0008%50,0008 7 - 100% RERZREHERR
o) BEEMEMR
BuildMax Technology The PRC/Wholly The PRC RMB6,500,000 - 100%  Processing, fabrication,
(Shenzhen) Limited foreign-owned manufacturing and
enterprise trading of building
‘ ’ material products
RERR (R BRAR  FE/EBALE RE AK6,500,0007 - 100% 10T -4 - BER
EERMER
Hillford Trading Limited Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares of = 100%  Investment holding
liability company HK$10,000 ;
EEZ5ERAT Bk /ARA &k 10,000810,000/57C - 100% RERRK
ol
KPa Engineering Limited Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 15,000,000 shares of = 100%  Provision of structural
liability company HK$15,000,000 engineering works
ENIRERAR Bt/ ERRE B 15,000,000 - 100% fRftEETRTIERS
15,000,000 7T
len)
KPa Engineering (HK) Limited  Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 300 shares of - 100%  Provision of structural
liability company HK$300 engineering works
ENIR(EFE)ARA Bk /ARA &k 30083007 7T AR 13 - 100% fREEBIRIIERS
EHEZRAES (F) The PRC/WhoHy The PRC HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of fabrication
BRAF foreign-owned drawing
enterprise
NERRHES hE/NEBA LR hE 1,000,007 - 100% REZEEE
(/ﬂiﬁ”) ﬁ —]
Sun Pool Engineering Limited  Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 150,000 shares of - 100%  Investment holding
liability company HK$150,000 }
RAIRERAR BE/ARAA & 150,0008150,000% 70 - 100% KEZR
ol
KPa Contracting Limited Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 300 shares of - 100%  Provision of structural
(Deregistered on liability company HK$300 engineering works
28 February 2025)
& (Muﬁ B2 i B/ ERLH & 30083007 7T AR 13 - 100% IREEBIRI(ERS
— = 7£
ZRZTN\BHEHEEMR)
e None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities in issue at the end of °© R{EHRXR BEWNBAFEEMNE R
the reporting period. THEHES - e

Eh#EKRER2A AFERS

A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

30. GUARANTEE

The Group provided guarantee in respect of the surety
bonds issued by the bank in favour of the customers of the
Group’s certain construction contracts as security for the
due performance and observance of the Group’s obligations
under the contracts entered into between the Group and its
customers. If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance
to its customers to whom surety bonds have been given, such
customers may demand the bank to pay to them the sum or sum
stipulated in such demand. The Group has unconditionally and
irrevocably agreed to indemnify the bank as issuer of the bonds
for claims and losses they may incur in respect of the bonds.
Details of these guarantees at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

30. R

AEBERRTUAAEEETRESNZ
EPRXm ANBHOERRFRKIEH-E
R AERARBEREFPITIVNEGHMEAT
AEBMEZRBETRETHEBFHIE
o AR BIRAE R H SRR HEY
BEFREHESAMENRR AEFPAER
SKERFTRAE I ERPREMKIEA - &
SEDEGE R A HE MR B RRT
(TERREKE B A) BLR K ATREE LM R
BREBRELEE RBESHRNZSE
ERABET :

2025 2024
e TS —Z-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Aggregate value of the surety bonds issued AR A%z A% B ERER X
in favour of customers K EEE 20,839 28,115

As assessed by the directors, these surety bonds are
assurance-type warranty and it is not probable that the bank
would claim against the Group for losses in respect of the
guarantee contracts as it is unlikely that the Group will fail
to meet its performance obligations of the relevant contract.
Accordingly, no provision for the Group’s obligations under the
guarantee has been made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

31.NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 31.%&RERNERME
OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: MEETHELEZBEHE
Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITER HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FERT
(note 23) (note 22(a))
(Htit23) (Ht5t22(a))
As at 1 April 2023 R=-BE=-=%1HBF—H 45,867 8,899
Changes from cash flows RenE®H
Proceeds from new bank borrowings FERITIE A FT1S FIE 84,297 =
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEN (120,888) -
Capital element of lease payments HENFKNERST D - (7,485)
Interest element of lease payments HENRHOFEHH - (447)
(36,591) (7,932)
Exchange adjustment bE 5 B = (149)
Other changes H fih & &)
Interest expenses MERX - 447
Increase in lease liabilities from RIS FT A E M AN
entering into new leases HEARE = 8,217
- 8,664
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-_MNF=A=+—-HER
—_E”_NMEW™A—H 9,276 9,482
Changes from cash flows REeEREZH
Proceeds from new bank borrowings iR 1T 8 SR P 1S 3R 60,000 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEN (69,276) -
Capital element of lease payments HENKHERE D - (6,329)
Interest element of lease payments HENFHOF B D - (580)
- (6,909)
Exchange adjustment HE H, 8 B - (77)
Other changes H b & &)
Interest expenses FMERAX - 580
Increase in lease liabilities from R T E A
entering into new leases HEBE - 9,904
- 10,484
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE_RAE=HF=+—H - 12,980
B hEREIRZZA —E-AEERS



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N.BBERS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial MZEFEEVBERREMEDTIREE
statements, the Group has the following significant transactions Gy REBHEBABEATEARS -

with its related parties.

Related party

(@) Name relationship Type of transaction Transaction amount
=L B 75 B R X585 XBEHE
2025 2024

—E-RE —_T_N&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T &t

Cozy Coffee Club Limited Director and key Management fee income 62 62
(note) management have
equity interest
REMGEE HR AR EERTEEREE EREIRA
(Hi:E) AR A=
Note:  Mr. Yip is the director and shareholder of Cozy Coffee Club Kz : EhREAERSWHESAEATH
Limited. EERRE -
The above transaction was conducted in accordance with ot 32 5 T5 AR 15 7N £ [E B B B 5 AR
the terms mutually agreed between the Group and the B ERIRTELT

related party.

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key by EERHEMTIBEESEAENBES M
management were as follows: ™

2025 2024

—E_RHE —EZmEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FE T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e ERMREAMEF 26,204 19,043

Contributions to defined contribution A E MR FGRIRET B K
retirement plan 144 121
26,348 19,164
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital structure, to reduce
the cost of capital and to support the Group’s stability and
growth.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is total
debt to equity. Total debt includes bank borrowings and lease
liabilities. Equity represents total equity of the Group.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews and
manages the Group’s capital structure, taking into consideration
the future capital requirements of the Group, to ensure optimal
shareholders’ returns. The Group manages the capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

RERMBHERRME (F)

33.5KERE

AEEZERERBRDREAEED
FEEERD  URRREHE®RLS
Hifrfn B RN @B REELE
B URLPESHRAAR I AEEZ
BEMRIER -

AEEFEREARGL R (BIEFAR
ERaG R EREN - BHEEER
RRTEAREERE #HSEAEH
ZHatE -

ARBEFHEERAEHERKRES R
RHBRT - TBEHRT REELAE
BEEAER  NERESREBRRD
HoARBRBEERRNEEKIARME
EZRBEHEREAGEBYELRA
B RBRBAFHBELGRE  AKEA
BERAESN TIRERECBREHE  MKRR
LEES  BITHERND  |BRFESL
EEERIE -

RBEMRZEARABLEEDT

2025 2024

—E-RHEF —EMF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET AT

Lease liabilities HEaE 12,980 9,482
Bank borrowings RITERK - 9,276
12,980 18,758

Total equity BN 261,398 292,354
Gearing ratio BEARBENLE 5.0% 6.4%

The Group targets to maintain a gearing ratio to be in line with
the expected changes in economic and financial conditions.
The Group’s overall strategy on capital management remains
unchanged throughout the year.

AEENBEEAKERBBLEERR
NEBEREENMBRBEEFHHKF -
AEENEBEANEERBREBAFE

Eh#EKRER2A —T_RFERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBHRRME (&)

34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities:

. ZFBETNEMEERS

MEEZHME
TRITEMAERS WA MNREE:

2025 2024
—TE-RE —E_OF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FATT
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets measured BEBEE LT ENEHEE
at amortised cost
— Trade receivables — B 5 RrWRIE 126,249 134,947
— Other receivables and deposits —HihEWRIERIES 25,258 37,566
— Cash and bank balances —IBE MIRTTER 119,966 170,231
271,473 342,744
Financial liabilities tHasE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEBHEEAXGTENEHERE
— Trade and other payables — 8 5 I H &~ 38 119,503 135,871
- Bank borrowings —RITEK - 9,276
119,503 145,147
Other financial instruments HttE@mT A
— Lease liabilities —HEARE 12,980 9,482
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair (a)

value

Management assessed the fair values of current portion of
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, fixed term
deposit, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables
and bank borrowing approximately their carrying value due

to their short-term nature.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (b)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group did not have
any financial instruments measured at fair value and
accordingly, no analysis on fair value hierarchy is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
comprise credit risk, market risk (mainly interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the
key management under the policies approved by the board of
directors. The Group does not have written risk management
policies. However, the directors of the Company meet regularly
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to
manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group
is exposed to are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligations
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a
financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, it is the Group's policy to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. In order to minimise credit
risk, management has formulated a credit policy and
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
the counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each debtor. As at 31
March 2025, the Group has certain concentration of credit
risk as 36% and 64% (2024: 33% and 81%) of the Group's
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest trade
debtors and the five largest trade debtors respectively.

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is limited
because all deposits are placed with reputable banks and
financial institutions.

RERMBHERRME (F)

35. K E BB
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs mode/

The Group recognises loss allowance for ECLs on debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The Group applies
simplified approach to measure ECLs on trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets; and general
approach to measure ECLs on other receivables and
deposits and bank balances. Under the simplified approach,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. Under the general approach, the
Group applies the “3-stage” impairment model for ECLs
measurement based on change in credit risk since initial
recognition as follows:

— Stage 1: If the credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the financial instrument is
included in Stage 1.

— Stage 2: If the credit risk of the financial instrument
has increased significantly since its initial
recognition but is not deemed to be
credit-impaired, the financial instrument is
included in Stage 2.

— Stage 3: If the financial instrument is credit-impaired,
the financial instrument is included in Stage 3.

The ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 1 are measured
at an amount equivalent to 12-month ECLs whereas the
ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3 are
measured at an amount equivalent to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the risk of default has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
risk assessment and including forward-looking information.
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change in the debtors’
ability to meet their debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtors;

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the
payment status of debtors; and

e actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment in
which the debtors operate that results in a significant
change in the debtors’ ability to meet their debt
obligations.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

The Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is considered as
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the
following events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

(i) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

(iii) granting a concession to the debtors that the lender
would not otherwise consider for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial
difficulty;

(iv) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(v) significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs under individual and collective assessment.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience
and time value of money where appropriate, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the customers and
the economic environment. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

Eh#EKRER2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBHERME (&)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

5. i AMERE @®m

(a) GERE @
A EEEER T E

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets at the end of the

(&)

TRENNEHEARBRN RS HRA
mHEEE RN E SRR -
WREBEMENEBEENAYEES

reporting period: BRE R
Gross Net
R-E-RHF Expected carrying Loss carrying
As at 31 March 2025 =HA=+—H loss rate amount allowance amount
FEHIEE R AR B EERE R FEE
% HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FExT
Trade receivable B 5 EWRE
Collective assessment: SRR ¢
Current B ER 0.76% 115,854 878 114,976
Within 1 = 6 months —Z=x@A 3.26% 6,228 202 6,026
Within 7 = 12 months +Z=+ @A 36.48% 81 30 51
122,163 1,110 121,053
Individual assessed for T & T A B E B
specific debtors BE 30,124 24,928 5,196
152,287 26,038 126,249
Retention receivables EWRE S
Collective assessment: SR -
Current BN EA 0.79% 38,677 307 38,370
Individual assessed for BEEBARESR
specific debtors BaE] 10,592 6,847 3,745
49,269 7,154 42,115
Contract assets EREE
Collective assessment: e R
Current BN HA 0.75% 71,505 536 70,969
Individual assessed for B EES AR E5
specific debtors S A 6 5 1
71,511 541 70,970
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME (E)

5. i AMERE ®m

(a) GERE @
A EEEEER T E

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

(#&)
Gross
= it =S Expected carrying Loss Net carrying
As at 31 March 2024 ER=F—FH loss rate amount  allowance amount
TEHAEE X WA A &5 18 B R F(E
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFHET THT
Trade receivable B 5 EWRE
Collective assessment: SRR ¢
Current B H 1.3% 111,732 1,454 110,278
Within 1 = 6 months —Z=xEA 1.0% 3,636 37 3,599
Within 7 = 12 months +Z=+ @A 8.2% 7,576 624 6,952
122,944 2,115 120,829
Individual assessed for FIE &5 A K& B
specific debtors = 22,438 8,320 14,118
145,382 10,435 134,947
Retention receivables EWRE €
Collective assessment: SR
Current ENEA 1.6% 76,285 1,183 75,102
Individual assessed for 5 EEBARESR
specific debtors B 27,044 4,032 23,012
103,329 5,215 98,114
Contract assets EHNEE
Collective assessment: SEBRTA ¢
Current B EA 2.0% 39,054 771 38,283
Individual assessed for I E & T A B9 {E Bl
specific debtors T ih 7,967 852 7,115
47,021 1,623 45,398
B hHhEKREIRAIA CE-_REERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

ECLs rates are based on the past credit loss experience of
the customers or with reference to the industry data. These
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group's
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. Time value of money is considered in arriving at
the amount of ECLs, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the customers and economic environment.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were certain trade
receivables overdue more than 90 days. The Group assessed
the corresponding customers’ past due record, trading
history and credit rating (if any) to conclude that those
trade receivables overdue more than 90 days were not
default or credit impaired.

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits. The credit risk of the
Group’s other receivables and deposits at the end of the
reporting period has not increased significantly since initial
recognition. The Group has assessed that the amount of
ECLs was insignificant and accordingly, no loss allowance
was recognised.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rate. The Group’s interest rate
risk mainly arises from bank deposits, lease liabilities and
bank borrowings. Financial instruments arranged at variable
rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

All of the Group’s lease liabilities bore interest at fixed
rates. Details of lease liabilities are disclosed in notes 22(a).

The Group's bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 bore
interest at floating rate (note 23) and thus the Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and HIBOR arising from the Group’s Hong Kong
dollar denominated borrowings.

Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group’s bank balances also expose it to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors of the
Company consider the Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk in respect of bank balances is not significant due to low
level of deposit interest rate.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management closely monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis demonstrates the Group’s
exposure to a reasonable possible change in interest
rates on its floating rate bank borrowings with all other
variables held constant at the end of the reporting period (in
practice, the results may differ from the sensitivity analysis
below and the difference could be material):

RERMBHERRME (F)

35. B & & b B B (m)
(b) ==k (#)

REB 2 RITHEBMARITHERZ
BOmBsiErem< EHERS
MENERER ARARNEERLS
BHRERAERKEE  AEEEH
RITBHBRZNERARALFEK -

7N 5% B3R B 30 4 R R BN EUR - A
mEREETERNERR R
BHRER  BEeZREIPEANEX
R o

B E D W

T3 U 5 17 BB R A A L
BEFTEMERT  AEEMT
B % 48 17 18 30 5 90 45 HD R AL A
EARA BB HE Y AR (B
B bR AR TIBEE AN
SATEFTHA LA R AR
%) :

(Decrease)/Increase in
profit for the year and
retained profits

F R R R AR 8B Al
R 2,/ hn
2025 2024
—E_RE —E_JOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Changes in interest rate Fl =25
+1% +1% - (19)
-1% -1% - 19
Foreign currency risk (c) Fhs = b
Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value INERBRIES R T AN AT ESRE
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate IR S = A E R E) Mk AR
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. % o
The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through AEBHEMEERK  FERE
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency AEGHBENINE S AN FERE
other than the functional currency of the operations to HEGHEMNEE RS - SHHINE
which they relate. The currencies giving rise to foreign EEERENEETEAET BT
currency risk are primarily US$, Euro (“EUR"”) and RMB. (R RARE - SHEXZUE
Sales are mainly denominated in HK$ while some of the JoET B MEBD B IAET « BT
purchases are denominated in US$, EUR and RMB. The ARG BE EREEERAEEH
management monitors foreign currency exposure of the ZAONEE RS o IS @ & EE I TINE
Group and will consider undertaking foreign exchange HHEHREEREGHHAEER
hedging activities to reduce the impact of foreign exchange B EIE T o
rate movements on the Group's operating result.
EhERERAZA —E_REEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (F)

35. B & & B B B (m)
(c) IMEE R Bz (@)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table disclosed the carrying amounts of
the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities in net position at the end of the reporting period.
As HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus subject to minimal

TEREEFRFEANIINETERN
EMEERBERREHRR KR
B-@m B TR THE AR
REEBERTZE HEEKEE

currency risk, the relevant monetary assets and liabilities FEETEERTRA -
are excluded from the following table.
2025 2024
ZEZ-HF —ZT-mE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Net monetary assets/(liabilities) EBEE(BFE) 38
The Group rEH
RMB AR® (610) (539)
EUR B 7T 76 (576)
GBP R 2 -
Inter-Company Balances AT B &
HK$ BT 352 7,886
RMB AR (1,822) (931)
The following table illustrates the approximate change TRETAEEREENRRES R

in the Group’s profit for the year and retained profits in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting periods.

T 2 28 K L B O SN B SR By 5 3 )
ﬁ%%@)ﬁﬂ?fﬁlﬁmﬂ&% i A 1

Increase/(decrease) in
profit for the year and
retained profits

FRBFRREER
i, G2
2025 2024
—BC-RHE —E_mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
The Group rEEH
RMB appreciated by 3% AREFE3% (15) (13)
EUR appreciated by 3% BT HHE3% 2 (14)
GBP appreciated by 3% EEFE3% - -
Inter-Company Balances AT B &
HK$ appreciated by 3% I E3% 9 198
RMB appreciated by 3% AR FE3% (46) (23)

The changes in exchange rates do not affect the Group’s
other component of equity. The same percentage
depreciation in the foreign currencies against the functional
currency of the respective group entities would have the
same magnitude on profit and retained profits but of
opposite effect.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2025
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting periods and had been applied
to each of the group entities, which had exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that
date, and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. The stated changes represented the
management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period until the next
annual reporting date.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
because exposure at the end of the reporting period does
not reflect the exposure during the respective year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in
respect of settlement of trade and other payables, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and its financing obligations,
and also in respect of its cash flow management.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term. The liquidity policy has been
followed by the Group since prior years and is considered
to have been effective in managing liquidity risks.

The following tables summarise the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities including
bank loans with repayment on demand clause, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or if floating, based on
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Eh#EKRER2A

RERMBHERRME (F)

5. i AMERE ®m

(c)

(d)

ShEE R B ()

FREDTIDBRINEE X 2 &
HERNBERARBELEMETE - A E
Fgﬁﬁﬁ/\ %.EHE Eﬁnn\\giaﬁ
EremIA2E®ER  mAA
Hib B (LERFR) R A& -
itz BEEEEEHEE T — (@
Efx&iEIHﬁJtHHF'W\EETZA
Al RE BB 2 FT A -

BEERR  ARREHROER
%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁf&“if‘ﬂ’]ﬂ © U
EHRAEREEAINERR -

if

REE SR

BN E B 3 fe BN &R B R g i A AL
URXRNBEEIE—cMEESES
BmEEzETHA@ERRER - KN&
BEEEES REMMETKIE R
TER HEaERBETERMES
EFEUERRERESREEETE
EZRBECRER ANEEMBUR
AREHRERERSESTER  #Fit
BREABARRcRENNEETE
STRIMERETENRERE AR
NEESHARRARBHEST K - R

iﬂ&i&ﬁ%ﬁ@ﬁiﬂ( —EAAR
SELR BRAR/EEERDE
iﬂngﬁﬁfTZﬁ)&

TEREMAEEEESRURRE
//|L§(/F'3$§¢E ?’]%'JT &QD%/¥
8 ARmERRNEGFEHT L

15N

M) ceMBE(BREERE

ENRITEF) R TEHNEHAE
RAEEAXNBHERIENZTEH
H o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBRRME (&)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for bank loans which contain repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised at bank’s sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on
the earliest period in which the Group can be required to
pay, that is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional
rights to call the loans with immediate effect.

35. B & & B B B (m)
(d) REE € &K (@

BEBME  ARTA2RBETRE
MR B SREE GRR M IRITE KM
5 O MTBURAN S B A g AR A
REHEMNRS AL - BUERA
TTEE BN ERANEEER

=+
e

Total More than More than
contractual Within one 1year 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on but less less than
amount cash flow demand  than 2 years 5 years
wHEHn

B —£R BA-fF BBmME
REE RERE FERER EOIRWE  EIRIE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET THET TERT THET

As at 31 March 2025 R=B-R%=ZA=1+-H
Trade and other payables & 5 R H thfE (4508 119,503 119,503 119,503 - -
Lease liabilities HEERE 12,980 13,641 6,945 4,262 2,434
132,483 133,144 126,448 4,262 2,434

As at 31 March 2024 R-B-BmE=A=+-A
Trade and other payables B 5 R E B 7B 135,871 135,871 135,871 = =
Bank borrowings RITER 9,276 9,276 9,276 = =
Lease liabilities BEAR 9,482 9,918 5,601 3,590 727
154,629 155,065 150,748 3,590 1217
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements in this annual report and prior year financial
statements, is as follows:

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LU

AEESROAAMBFENRENEENA
EMERNE NE R EEZY B HRE LB
EFEMBHRE - #HWT -

RESULTS E
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
ZEC-hHE —T M4 —T-=F —E-CF 2%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FHT TAT TET FET
Revenue & 667,711 666,037 568,490 494,170 458,493
Cost of revenue U g B AR (560,616) (550,806) (467,723) (433,457) (357,840)
Gross profit E7 107,095 115,231 100,767 60,713 100,653
Other income Hi A 10,550 7,187 3,701 1,277 6,805
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment & & ¥ % 7 A E
properties (B18)/ Wz (343) (294) (138) (246) 260
Loss on disposal of investment  HEREMEERE
properties - - - (388) -
(Provision)/reversal of loss BHEWHIE BEREE
allowance on (3H1R)/#m|
trade receivables (15,603) (8,794) (577) (539) 224
(Provision)/reversal of loss B REE 2 EREEE
allowance on (3H1R)/#®|
retention receivables (1,939) (2,352) (791) (493) 6
Reversal/(provision) of loss BRHEE ERER
allowance on contract assets %8 /(5H42) 1,082 896 (920) (169) (867)
Marketing and distribution MHEEERDHEAZ
expenses (2,796) (2,515) (1,996) (2,435) (3,537)
Administrative and other TRREMEEHRY
operating expenses (54,281) (50,132) (52,626) (41,936) (43,415)
Finance costs B 75 B A (2,501) (3,477) (2,119) (1,164) (934)
Profit before income tax BR AT B % AR A 41,264 55,750 45,301 14,620 59,195
Income tax expense X (5,107) (9,372) (8,154) (3,115) (9,024)
Profit for the year ERRF 36,157 46,378 37,147 11,505 50,171
Other comprehensive FrHMt2EKR
income for the year
Exchange differences arising ~ BEEIINEBRELLH
from translation fE N =%
of foreign operations (282) (1,108) (1,176) 635 1,180
Other comprehensive FREMZEKR
income for the year (282) (1,108) (1,176) 635 1,180
Total comprehensive FR2HUREAR
income for the year 35,875 45,270 35,971 12,140 51,351

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
HHEHRE (F)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—E_FE —E-mE —E-=F —EF-- —E-_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT THT THT
Total assets BmEE 437,817 526,633 497,976 402,126 431,393
Total liabilities BEE (176,419) (234,279) (234,184) (154,761) (163,168)
Net assets BEZRE 261,398 292,354 263,792 247,365 268,225
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